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Auditor’s Report 
To the Annual General Meeting of Func Food Group Oyj 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Func Food Group Oyj (business identity code 2592369-6) for the 
year ended 31 December, 2017. The financial statements comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and 
notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as well as the parent company’s statement of 
financial position, income statement, statement of cash flows and notes. 

In our opinion 

— the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the group’s financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the EU 

— the financial statements give a true and fair view of the parent company’s financial performance and 
financial position in accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of financial 
statements in Finland and comply with statutory requirements. 

Our opinion is consistent with the additional report submitted to the Board of Directors. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland. Our responsibilities under good 
auditing practice are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the parent company and of the group companies in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are applicable in Finland and are relevant to our audit, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We have not provided any non-audit services to the parent company or group companies. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Materiality 
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. The materiality is determined based 
on our professional judgement and is used to determine the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures 
and to evaluate the effect of identified misstatements on the financial statements as a whole. The level of 
materiality we set is based on our assessment of the magnitude of misstatements that, individually or in 
aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have influence on the economic decisions of the users of the 
financial statements. We have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in 
our opinion are material for qualitative reasons for the users of the financial statements. 

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
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opinion on these matters. The significant risks of material misstatement referred to in the EU Regulation No 
537/2014 point (c) of Article 10(2) are included in the description of key audit matters below. 

We have also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls. This includes consideration of 
whether there was evidence of management bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to 
fraud. 

 

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN THE 
AUDIT 

 

Valuation of goodwill, other intangible assets and subsidiary shares 
(Accounting policies and consolidated note 11 as well as parent company notes 2 and 3) 

— In recent years the Group has expanded its 
activities through acquisition of companies. 
As a result, the consolidated statement of 
financial position includes a significant 
amount of goodwill. In addition, as a 
consequence of purchase price allocations, 
the consolidated statement of financial 
position includes intangible assets, some of 
which have been classified to have an 
indefinite useful life. 

— Shares in subsidiaries and receivables from 
group companies form a significant part of 
the parent company’s statement of financial 
position. The subsidiary shares have been 
valued at cost. 

— Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite 
useful life are not amortized but tested at 
least annually for impairment. Determining 
the cash flow forecasts underlying the 
impairment tests requires the Directors 
make judgements over certain key inputs, for 
example revenue growth rate, profitability 
and discount rate.  

— Due to the high level of judgement related to 
the forecasts used, and the significant 
carrying amounts involved, valuation of 
goodwill, other intangible assets and 
subsidiary shares and subsidiary 
receivables is considered a key audit matter. 

— Our audit procedures included, among 
others, assessing key inputs in the 
calculations such as revenue growth, 
profitability and discount rate, by reference to 
the Board approved budgets, data external to 
the Group and our own views. We assessed 
the historical accuracy of forecasts prepared 
by management by comparing actual results 
for the year with the original forecasts. 

— We involved KPMG valuation specialists that 
assessed the technical accuracy of the 
calculations and compared the assumptions 
used to market and industry information. 

— In assessing the valuation of subsidiary 
shares, information of the cash flow forecasts 
in the impairment tests have been used. The 
intra-group receivables in the parent 
company’s statement of financial position 
have been reconciled with the counter 
parties’ balances.  

— Furthermore, we considered the 
appropriateness of the Group’s disclosures 
in respect of goodwill and other intangible 
assets and impairment testing. 
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Inventories (Accounting policies and note 16) 

— The value of inventories in the consolidated 
financial statements totals EUR 8.8 million 
as at 31 December, 2017. The inventories 
are valued at the lower of cost or net 
realization value. Determining net realization 
value requires Director’s judgement. 

— Due to the carrying amount of inventories 
and the Directors’ judgement used in the 
valuation, inventories are considered a key 
audit matter. 

— We have assessed the inventory monitoring 
process of the Group, including pricing and 
valuation processes, related controls and 
tested their effectiveness. 

— We have participated in the physical stock 
count of the inventories and assessed the 
results of the stock count in relation to the 
inventory accounting. 

— We have reconciled the information of the 
inventory accounting to the general ledger 
and performed substantive testing on pricing 
and valuation calculations. 

— Furthermore, we considered the 
appropriateness of the disclosures in 
respect of inventories. 

 
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial Statements  
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
laws and regulations governing the preparation of financial statements in Finland and comply with statutory 
requirements. The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are also responsible for such internal control 
as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for 
assessing the parent company’s and the group’s ability to continue as going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting. The financial 
statements are prepared using the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate 
the parent company or the group or cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with good auditing practice will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with good auditing practice, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
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— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the parent company’s or the group’s internal control.  

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ and the Managing Director’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the parent company’s or the 
group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the parent company or the group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events so 
that the financial statements give a true and fair view. 

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected 
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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Other Reporting Requirements 
Information on our audit engagement 
We were first appointed as auditors by the Annual General Meeting on 13 June 2017, and our appointment 
represents a total period of uninterrupted engagement of one year. 

Other Information 
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the report of the Board of Directors. Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. Our responsibility also 
includes considering whether the report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the 
applicable laws and regulations. 

In our opinion, the information in the report of the Board of Directors is consistent with the information in the 
financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the 
applicable laws and regulations. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the report of 
the Board of Directors, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Tampere 16 April 2018 

KPMG OY AB 
LOTTA NURMINEN 

Lotta Nurminen 
Authorised Public Accountant, KHT 
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Func Food Group

Report of the Board of Directors

Accounting period 1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017

Operating environment

Financial position and performance of the Company and the development of its operations

*Profit for the year / equity (quarterly average during the financial year)

**Equity/(total assets - advances received)

Material events during the financial year

Func Food Group markets and distributes nutritional supplements, super food products, beverages and clothing that support sport activities and 

healthy living in Finland and Sweden. The Group also started operations in Norway at the end of 2017. The operation is based on the sale of the 

FAST, CocoVi, Fitfarm, Celsius and Freddy brands.

The general financial situation of the financial year in Finland improved compared to the previous year, and the consumers’ trust in the economy was 

at a high level. The FAST and Fitfarm sports nutrition brands retained their leading position in their product categories, although new competitors 

entered the market. Out of the nutritional supplements category, bars and puddings increased the most. In the super food category, CocoVi retained 

its position as a significant brand. Work to develop the Celsius beverage brand continued also in the Finnish market.

In Sweden, the economy and consumers´ trust also developed positively. Healthy living and sports trends supported the business operations of the 

Company. The strong growth of functional beverages recorded in recent years continued and Celsius retained its strong position in the category. New 

competitors and drink options continued to enter the marker, although the life time of several novelties has remained short. The sales of Celsius 

beverages developed in a positive manner, particularly during the first and third quarter of the year. The sales of the FAST brand increased and e.g. 

the bars achieved a new position on the market during the last quarter of the year. The CocoVi brand was launched in the Swedish market during the 

financial year.

The Group’s key financial indicators have developed as shown in the following table (IFRS):

Key financial indicators 1.1.-31.12.2017 1.1.-31.12.2016 1.1.-31.12.2015

Revenue (EUR000) 40 085,3 39 965,3 29 366,6

Operating profit/loss (EUR000) -4 023,3 675,5 -4 886,2

The Group entered a revenue-reducing item of 0.1 million euros to the other income of 2017 business operations. This entry was due to the the 

difference between the final additional sales price of Suomen Lisäravinne Oy’s shares and the prior estimate.

Operating profit, % -10,0 1,7 -16,6

Return on equity, %* -72,6 -19,5 -47,6

Equity ratio, %** 9,9 20,6 22,1

The increase in the company’s sales was greatly due to the good development of the FAST and Celsius brands. During the year, the sales of the 

FAST brand increased by 23 % and in case of the Celsius brand by 11 %. On the other hand, the sales of the CocoVi, FitFarm and Freddy brands 

declined. The development of the Company’s turnover was also negatively affected by the Company’s strategic decision to end private label sales.

The Company applied to change the conditions of its bond with a process started on 10.1.2017. The Company proposed that Func Food Sweden Ab 

can change a maximum of 10.0 million euros of the 33.1 million euros of intra-group loan granted by Func Food Group Oyj into an equity instrument. 

At the same time, the Company proposed that the planned 2.5 million amortization on the bond could be omitted in September 2017. The Company 

also proposed to use its funds in an escrow account (70 million Swedish Krona) to partially repay the bond at an accelerated schedule. The funds 

were released to pay the loan because the conditions for additional purchase price related to the ACMF Holding acquisition were not fulfilled. The 

holders of the bond approved the Company’s proposed changes on 3.2.2017. As a condition for carrying out the changes, the Company arranged for 

additional financing in the amount of 2.0 million euros from shareholders in the period between December 2016 and February 2017. The Company 

also made an amortization on the bond with funds in the escrow account on 1.3.2017.

The Company applied to change the conditions of the bond with a second process that started on 18.12.2017. The Company proposed that Func 

Food Sweden Ab may convert up to 10.0 million euros of the originally 33.1 million, and at the end of the year 23.1 million euros of intra-group loan 

granted by Func Food Group Oyj into an equity instrument. The Company also proposed that the planned bond repayment of 4.5 million euros can be 

omitted in September 2018. At the same time, the Company proposed an increase in the amount of permitted financial leasing debt and a permission 

to use recourse factoring arrangements with large retail customers, where the credit risk remains with the Group. The Company also proposed 

changes to the bond terms in relation to discontinuing the Freddy business operations and the possible merger of the Finnish subsidiaries. As a 

condition for the implementation of the changes, the Company committed to arrange a minimum of 2.0 and a maximum of 3.0 million euros of equity 

from its shareholders. The Company's proposal was approved on 15.1.2018.

Func Food Group Oyj's subsidiary, Func Food Finland Oy, increased its ownership of Suomen Lisäravinne Oy to 100 % during 2017.

The operating profit of the Company decreased by 4.7 million euros compared to the previous accounting period. The biggest reason for the change 

was other operating income recorded in 2016 due to unrealized additional purchase prices relating to previous years' acquisitions. These items 

improved the operating profit in 2016 by 8.1 million euros. On the other hand the operating profit in 2016 was negatively affected by a goodwill 

impairment in the amount of 5.6 million euros. The operating profit in 2017 was affected especially by additional 0.8 million euros of marketing and 

decreased profitability of the Freddy business.
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Statement of financial position and funding

The below table shows how the number of shares in Func Food Group Oyj has increased over time.

2016 2017

Shares at the beginning of the financial year 29 771 564 31 396 564

Equity issue 21.6.2016 1 625 000

Shares at the end of the financial year 31 396 564 31 396 564

The shares have no par value.

Subordinated loans

Convertible loans

Company structure and ownership

Administration and auditor

Significant resolutions of the shareholders' meetings

Func Food Group Oyj operates as the parent company of the Group and provides administrative services to its subsidiaries. As of 31.12.2017, the 

Group has six subsidiaries that are fully owned by Func Food Group Oyj. Func Food Group Oyj is owned by funds managed by Sentica Partners Oy, 

a Finnish private equity company, and by previous and current key persons in the Group and their investment companies. The Company has 

31,396,564 shares of one class (as per 31.12.2017). All shares carry equal voting, dividend and capital rights. The shares are subject to redemption 

and consent clauses of the Articles of Association.

The total assets shown on Func Food Group’s balance sheet were EUR 65.8 million (EUR 74.0 million) at the end of the accounting period. The 

equity amounted to EUR 6.5 million (EUR 15.0 million).

In June 2015, Func Food Group issued a bond of EUR 38 million, which is its largest debt instrument. The bond’s maturity is four years, and it 

matures on 26.6.2019. The interest rate of the bond is a 3-month EURIBOR (of at least 0.0%) plus nine per cent. A repayment of 1.0 million euros 

was made in September 2016 and a repayment of 7.4 million euros in March 2017. More details on the bond’s terms and conditions are available on 

the Web at www.funcfood.com.

The Company issued a new convertible loan during the financial year, which was offered for subscription to the shareholders of Func Food Group Oyj 

in relation to their share ownership. The maximum amount of the loan was resolved to be 3,000,000 euros. In connection with the loan, subscription 

rights were issued, which allow the subscription of the Company's shares in certain situations. The subscription rights were offered to the subscribers 

of the convertible loan. Approximately 2,276,000 euros of the loan was subscribed during 2017.

Suomen Lisäravinne Oy, one of the Group companies, has two subordinated loans from outside the Group. The main terms and conditions of the 

loans are the following: no collateral has been set for the loan; any interest payable on the loan is subject to the stipulations of section 12 of the 

Limited Liability Companies Act; the recipient of the loan is entitled to repay the loan in full or in part if it satisfies the requirements of section 12 of the 

Limited Liability Companies Act on the repayment of the loan principal; otherwise the principal may be returned and interest paid only if the amount of 

the company’s unrestricted shareholders' equity and the sum total of all subordinated loans at the time of repayment exceeds the amount of loss 

indicated in the balance sheet for the accounting period last ended or in any financial statements prepared thereafter.

The first loan, with an equity of 25,000.00 euros, shall be due on 28.2.2018 and its interest rate is 5.5%. The second loan, with an equity of 49,666.67 

euros, shall be due on 20.5.2020. Its interest rate is 7.0 %. The loans have not accrued interest which has not been recorded as interest expense.

The parent company of the Group has convertible loans whose balance sheet value was 7.9 million euros at the end of the accounting period. The 

interest of the loans is 10% per annum and the accrued interests are added to the loan principal annually. The loans and accrued interests mature for 

payment in 2021 and 2022. In connection with the subscription of the loans subscription rights have been issued. These rights entitle the creditors to 

subscribe a maximum of 14.5 million shares of Func Food Group Oyj when the loan terms are met.

The members of the Board of Directors as per 31.12.2017:

Mika Uotila (Chairman of the Board)

Antti Keränen (Member)

Esko Lantto (Member)

Antti Pirinen (Member)

Andreas Celik (Member)

KPMG Oy Ab operates as the Company’s auditor, with Lotta Nurminen, APA, serving as the auditor in charge.

Func Food Group Oyj’s Annual General Meeting was held in Tampere on 13.6.2017. The Meeting adopted the financial statements and discharged 

the Company's accountables from liability for the financial year 1.1.-31.12.2016. The number of the members of the board was confirmed to be five 

and Mika Uotila, Antti Keränen, Antti Pirinen, Esko Lantto ja Andreas Celik shall continue as members of the board. The General Meeting resolved to 

appoint KPMG Oy Ab as the Group's new auditor, who has appointed Lotta Nurminen, APA, as the auditor in charge. The Meeting resolved to 

change Func Food Group Oyj's Articles of Association in such a way that Helsinki became the Company’s new domicile.

Func Food Group Oyj’s extraordinary General Meeting was held in Helsinki on 20.11.2017. The General Meeting resolved to issue a convertible loan 

of up to 3.0 million euros for subscription. The subscribers of the convertible loan were offered subscription rights, which allow the subscription of the 

Company shares in certain situations. The convertible loan was subscribed in full by the end of January 2018.
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Personnel

Research and development

Environmental protection

Assessment of operational risks and uncertainties

Material events subsequent to the end of the financial year

Outlook for future developments

Proposal of the Board of Directors for the distribution of profit

During the financial year, the Group had an average of 73 (2016 72 and 2015 50) employees. The number of employees was affected e.g. by the 

broadening of the field sales force in Sweden and the starting of business operations in Norway. The salaries and fees for the accounting period were 

EUR 3.7 (2016 3.7 and 2015 2.8) million.

The Group’s own product development is mostly outsourced to selected subcontractors. In addition, the Company’s own product development 

expertise has been strengthened over the year by adding human resources. The Company is also involved in consumer research, the costs of which 

are recognised as marketing expenses.

The holders of the Company’s bond approved the Company’s proposed changes to the terms and conditions of the bond on 15.1.2018. In alignment 

with the conditions for carrying out the changes, the Company arranged for additional financing in the amount of 3.0 million euros from shareholders 

in the period between November 2017 and January 2018.

The Company notified a reorganisation of business activities on 19.2.2018. One of the Group’s subsidiaries Func Food Finland Oy started co-

operation negotiations, which ended on 12.3.2018. As a result of the negotiations, the job duties of ten employees will end or change, and the 

Company shall close its office in Tampere by 30.6.2018.

The revenue of the Group is expected to increase moderately over the next accounting period, both in Finland and in Sweden. In addition, the 

business operations initiated in Norway are expected to provide a slight increase in revenue. The profit is also expected to improve compared with 

the previous accounting period.

The parent company’s financial statements showed a loss of EUR 0.6 million. The Board of Directors proposes that no dividend be paid and that the 

loss for the period be credited to the retained earnings account.

The Group operates internationally and therefore faces transaction risks arising from various currency positions and risks that arise when 

investments, receivables and liabilities in various currencies are translated into the parent company’s functional currency. The main currencies for 

the Group in terms of procurement are the US dollar (USD), the Swedish krona (SEK) and the British pound (GBP). Also, the SEK/EUR ratio has a 

major impact on the profit reported by the Group when receivables from and liabilities to the Swedish subsidiaries are translated into the parent 

company’s functional currency. The risk related to the SEK/EUR currency pair is increased partly by the fact that all of the Group’s external liabilities 

are euro-denominated, but a major part of its income is krona-denominated. So far the Group has not used hedging instruments to manage its 

currency risks, but it is actively investigating open foreign currency positions and related hedging needs and possibilities.

The Company has partial insurance coverage against interruptions in production. In addition, the Company has seeked protection against damages 

and accidents through e.g. product liability, operations liability, legal process, and property insurances.

The operative risks of the Company include dependency on the know-how of personnel, potential disturbances in the supply chain, and price 

variations of raw materials and other factors of production.

The key objective of the Group’s financial risk management activities is to identify and measure the overall risk position resulting from the Group’s 

financial activities, and implement risk management measures ensuring that the overall financial risks do not exceed the Group’s risk-bearing 

capacity and risk-taking willingness. The interest rate risk of the Company is affected by the fact that most of the Group's debt has a floating interest 

rate. The main liquidity risks of the Group are related to the interest and repayment schedules and financing for liabilities, the periodic fluctuation of 

product sales during the year, the concentration of purchases of certain products to a few months during the year, and the amount of working capital 

needed. In order to ensure liquidity, the Group uses trade receivable financing arrangements and constantly strives to improve working capital 

management by negotiating, for instance, sufficiently long payment terms with suppliers and by optimising the size of inventories. The Company has 

not used hedging instruments to manage its financing risks during the accounting period.

The Group has credit risks due to the concentration of sales to a few large retail chains, but the probability that the credit risk of these customers 

materialises is very small. The credit risk concentrations of other customers are minor due to the Group’s large number of small customers and the 

fact that the average amount due is small.

The strategic risks of the Company include dependency on a limited amount of customers that can have a strong negotiation position relating to e.g. 

pricing. Other strategic risks include changes in the competitive situation in the market and in geographical areas where the Company operates, and 

changes in the customers' preferences.

In all of its activities, the Company seeks to find solutions that are environmentally sustainable and satisfy all regulatory requirements on 

environmental protection. In practice, however, as the Company is mainly a sales and marketing organisation, the bulk of activities conducive to 

environmental protection take place in the supplier chains that Func Food Group Oyj strives to actively monitor. 
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Func Food Group

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

EUR Note 1.1.-31.12.2017 1.1.-31.12.2016

Revenue 1 40 085 345,26 39 965 276,85

Other operating income 2 74 955,28 8 249 594,96

Change in inventory of raw materials and consumables 2 442 474,36 -72 756,69

Raw materials and consumables used -28 247 531,10 -24 918 753,00

Employee benefits expense 3 -4 908 893,25 -4 796 344,97

Depreciation and amortisation 5 -4 236 832,87 -3 985 324,86

Impairments 5 0,00 -5 593 521,50

Other operating expenses 4, 6, 7 -9 232 826,41 -8 172 635,80

Operating profit -4 023 308,73 675 534,99

Financial income 8 74 559,43 82 048,41

Financial expenses 9 -4 453 907,09 -4 838 202,10

Profit before taxes -8 402 656,40 -4 080 618,70

Income taxes 10 683 366,31 797 992,09

Profit for the year -7 719 290,09 -3 282 626,61

Profit for the year -7 719 290,09 -3 282 626,61

Distribution

To equity holders of the parent -7 719 290,09 -3 282 626,61

To non-controlling interests 0,00 0,00

-7 719 290,09 -3 282 626,61

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be recognised in profit or loss in the future

Profit for he financial year -7 719 290,09 -3 282 626,61

Items of the comprehensive income statement

Translation differences -710 199,02 -1 723 837,24

Total comprehensive income for the year -8 429 489,11 -5 006 463,85

Distribution

To equity holders of the parent -8 429 489,11 -5 006 463,85

To non-controlling interests 0,00 0,00

-8 429 489,11 -5 006 463,85
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Func Food Group

Consolidated statement of financial position

EUR Note 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12,13 1 671 387,24 1 776 249,69

Goodwill 11 20 091 468,78 20 443 913,41

Other intangible assets 11 31 360 134,05 34 847 362,58

Other financial assets 15 1 875,00 1 875,00

Deferred tax assets 31 93 171,40 21 172,33

53 218 036,47 57 090 573,01

Current assets

Inventories 16 8 771 274,20 6 256 243,95

Trade and other receivables 17, 18 2 465 250,11 9 871 880,27

Tax assets based on taxable income for the period 22 931,18 88 601,24

Cash and cash equivalents 21 1 319 247,16 735 068,21

12 578 702,65 16 951 793,67

Total assets 65 796 739,13 74 042 366,68

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Share capital 22 80 000,00 80 000,00

Invested non-restricted equity reserve 22 30 047 093,00 30 043 701,00

Translation differences 22 -2 361 730,97 -1 718 616,44

Retained earnings 22 -21 226 187,10 -13 439 068,52

6 539 174,93 14 966 016,04

Total equity 6 539 174,93 14 966 016,04

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 31 6 717 660,12 7 632 738,23

Financial liabilities 23 33 315 433,50 37 598 884,28

Other liabilities 23 5 693 187,49 5 522 545,93

45 726 281,11 50 754 168,44

Current liabilities

Trade payables and other liabilities 30 8 546 817,61 5 021 107,48

Tax liabilities based on taxable income for the period 0,00 237 730,72

Financial liabilities 23 4 984 465,49 3 063 344,00

13 531 283,10 8 322 182,20

Total liabilities 59 257 564,20 59 076 350,64

Total equity and liabilities 65 796 739,13 74 042 366,68
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

EUR Share capital

Invested non-

restricted equity 

reserve

Translation 

differences

Retained 

earnings Total Total equity

Equity at 1 Jan 2016 2 500,00 29 796 201,00 5 220,80 -10 167 527,47 19 636 394,33 19 636 394,33

Adjustment on the excise duties of previous accounting periods 10 341,52 10 341,52 10 341,52

Adjusted equity at 1 Jan 2016 2 500,00 29 796 201,00 5 220,80 -10 157 185,95 19 646 735,85 19 646 735,85

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year -3 282 626,61 -3 282 626,61 -3 282 626,61

Translation differences -1 723 837,20 -1 723 837,20 -1 723 837,20

Total comprehensive income for the year 0,00 0,00 -1 723 837,20 -3 282 626,61 -5 006 463,81 -5 006 463,81

Other items affecting equity

Impact of equity share of convertible loans 744,00 744,00 744,00

Total other items affecting equity 0,00 0,00 0,00 744,00 744,00 744,00

Transactions with equity owners

Equity issue 325 000,00 325 000,00 325 000,00

Changes in Share capital 77 500,00 -77 500,00 0,00 0,00

Total transactions with equity owners 77 500,00 247 500,00 0,00 0,00 325 000,00 325 000,00

Equity on 31 Dec 2016 80 000,00 30 043 701,00 -1 718 616,40 -13 439 068,56 14 966 016,04 14 966 016,04

EUR Share capital

Invested non-

restricted equity 

reserve

Translation 

differences

Retained 

earnings Total Total equity

Equity at 1 Jan 2017 80 000,00 30 043 701,00 -1 718 616,40 -13 439 068,56 14 966 016,04 14 966 016,04

Adjustment on the excise duties of previous accounting periods 0,00 0,00 0,00

Adjusted equity at 1 Jan 2017 80 000,00 30 043 701,00 -1 718 616,40 -13 439 068,56 14 966 016,04 14 966 016,04

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year -7 719 290,09 -7 719 290,09 -7 719 290,09

Translation differences -710 199,02 -710 199,02 -710 199,02

Total comprehensive income for the year 0,00 0,00 -710 199,02 -7 719 290,09 -8 429 489,11 -8 429 489,11

Other items affecting equity

Impact of equity share of convertible loans 3 392,00 -744,00 2 648,00 2 648,00

Transfer between items 67 084,45 -67 084,45 0,00 0,00

Total other items affecting equity 0,00 3 392,00 67 084,45 -67 828,45 2 648,00 2 648,00

Transactions with equity owners

Equity issue 0,00 0,00

Changes in Share capital 0,00 0,00

Total transactions with equity owners 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00

Equity at 31 Dec 2017 80 000,00 30 047 093,00 -2 361 730,97 -21 226 187,10 6 539 174,93 6 539 174,93
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

EUR Note 2017 2016

Cash flows from business operations

Profit for the period -7 719 290,09 -3 282 626,61

Adjustments:

Depreciation according to plan 5 4 236 832,87 9 578 846,36

Unrealized exchange rate gains and losses 102 746,00 298 253,80

Interest and other financial expenses 9 4 456 337,40 4 539 948,30

Interest income and other finance income 8 -74 559,43 -82 048,41

Taxes 10 -683 366,31 -797 992,09

Other adjustments -573 162,00 -8 552 121,82

Changes in working capital excluding funds in blocked accounts 1 479 679,12 397 229,34

Funds on blocked accounts 7 220 328,26 170,32

Interest paid -3 562 803,40 -4 066 646,29

Interest received 74 559,00 60 694,43

Taxes paid -122 392,49 -845 387,04

Net cash flow from operating activities 4 834 908,93 -2 751 679,71

Cash flows used in investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired -262 422,54 0,00

Investments in tangible and intangible fixed assets -52 919,72 -169 472,71

Sales of tangible fixed assets 0,00 48 000,00

Net cash flow from investing activities -315 342,26 -121 472,71

Cash flows used in financing activities

Invested non-restricted equity reserve 0,00 325 000,00

Short-term loans drawn 0,00 2 165 091,82

Long-term loans drawn 3 775 592,13 3 500 000,00

Repayment of long-term loans -7 398 520,93 -1 151 946,18

Payments of lease liabilities -305 857,25 0,00

Repayment of short-term loans 0,00 -2 806 498,05

Net cash flow from financing activities -3 928 786,05 2 031 647,59

Change in cash and cash equivalents 590 780,61 -841 504,83

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 21 735 068,21 1 427 100,96

Cash assets transferred in conjunction with restructuring 0,00 0,00

Net foreign exchange difference -6 601,67 149 472,08

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 21 1 319 247,16 735 068,21
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Accounting policies applied in the preparation of consolidated financial statements

Subsidiaries

Use of estimates in the financial statements

Associated companies and joint arrangements 

Translation of foreign currency items

Foreign currency transactions

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), observing 

the IAS and IFRS standards as well as SIC and IFRIC interpretations valid on 31.12.2017. International Financial Reporting Standards refer to 

the standards and their interpretations approved for application in the EU in accordance with the procedure stipulated in EU regulation (EU) no. 

1606/2002 and embodied in Finnish accounting legislation and the statutes enacted under it. The notes to the consolidated financial statements 

also comply with the Finnish accounting and corporate legislation, complementing the IFRS regulations.

The consolidated financial statements include the parent company Func Food Group Oyj and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries refer to companies in 

which the Group has control. The criteria for control are fulfilled when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Mutual holdings in the Group are eliminated using the purchase method. Purchase consideration and the individualised assets and liabilities of 

the acquired entity are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date. The costs related to the acquisition, with the exception of costs 

arising from the issue of equity or debt securities, are recorded as expenses. The purchase consideration does not include business operations 

that are treated separately from the acquisition. They are usually recognised in profit or loss. Any additional contingent purchase price is 

measured at fair value at the time of acquisition and is classified as a liability. Additional purchase price classified as a liability is measured at 

fair value at the end of the reporting period, and the resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. Additional purchase price classified 

as equity will not be re-measured. Any non-controlling interests in the acquired entity are measured either at fair value or at the proportionate 

share of non-controlling interests in the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. The principle applied in measurement is specified separately for 

each acquisition. The treatment of goodwill generated in conjunction with subsidiary acquisitions is described in the section “Goodwill”.

Acquired subsidiaries are consolidated from the time when the Group gained control, and divested subsidiaries until the time when control 

ceased. All intra-group transactions, receivables, debts, and unrealised profits, as well as internal distribution of profits are eliminated when the 

consolidated financial statements are prepared. Profit or loss and all items of comprehensive income are attributable to the owners of the parent 

and the non-controlling interests even if the share attributable to non-controlling interest would be negative as a result. Changes in the parent’s 

shareholding in the subsidiary which do not lead to loss of control are treated as equity-related transactions. 

There were no associated companies or joint ventures in the Group during the accounting periods of 2016-2017.

When financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, the Group’s management must make, 

in its sole discretion, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts of assets and liabilities presented in the financial statements, the 

reporting of contingent assets and liabilities, and the amount of income and expenses. The management may also be required to use its 

discretion in the application of the accounting principles. The estimates are mainly related to the allocation of assets to clients, brands and 

goodwill subsequent to business acquisitions, impairment testing and related forecasts on the growth of business and development of the 

operating environment, the merchantability of inventories and the value of trade receivables, the recognition and measurement of provisions, 

and future tax liabilities and benefits. There are uncertainties related to the operating environment which may prevent the estimates from coming 

true. The main uncertainties concern the future development of consumers’ purchase patterns and preferences, the changes in various product 

categories and related competitive situation, and the possibilities of extending the company’s operation to other products and new markets.

Figures indicating the performance and financial position of the Group entities are specified in the currency of the economic operating 

environment in which the entity primarily operates (functional currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which is 

the parent company's functional and presentation currency.

Any transactions in foreign currencies have been recognised in the functional currency using the exchange rate in effect on the transaction date. 

In practice, it is customary to use a rate that is close enough to the transaction day rate. Monetary foreign currency items are translated into the 

functional currency using the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary foreign currency items measured at their fair 

value are translated into the functional currency using the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. In other respects non-

monetary items are measured at the rates prevailing at the transaction date. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared for the accounting period of 12 months from 1.1.2017 to 31.12.2017. On 16.4.2018, 

the Board of Directors of Func Food Group Oyj authorised the publication of the consolidated financial statements. According to the Finnish 

Limited Liability Companies Act, the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders is entitled to adopt, or reject the financial statements after their 

publication.
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Translation of the financial statements of foreign Group companies

Property, plant and equipment

Machinery and equipment 3 to 10 years

Motor vehicles 3 to 10 years

Government grants

Items are depreciated over their useful lives using the straight-line method. Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Exchange rate gains and losses arising from foreign-currency transactions and the translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss. 

Exchange rate gains and losses on business transactions are included in the respective items above operating profit. Exchange rate gains and 

losses on loans denoted in foreign currencies are included in finance income and expenses, except for gains and losses arising from loans 

which de facto are part of the Group's net investment in the foreign entity. These exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive 

income items and the cumulative amount of the exchange differences is presented as a separate equity item until the foreign operation is 

partially or totally disposed of.

The income and expense items in the comprehensive income statements and separate income statements of foreign Group companies have 

been translated into euros at the average exchange rate of the month. All assets and liabilities of foreign Group companies are translated into 

euros using the exchange rates of the last day of the year. Differences that arise from translating income and expense using average rates and 

assets and liabilities using the rate of the ending date are recognised in equity, as translation differences in other comprehensive income.  

Income-related items are not translated using the exchange rate of the day they were materialized. Translation differences arising from the 

elimination of the acquisition price of foreign subsidiaries and from the translation differences in equity items since the acquisition date, as well 

as the change in the spot value of a currency forward that hedges net investments are recognised in other comprehensive income. When a 

subsidiary is sold wholly or partially, translation differences are recognised in the gain or loss on sale. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to the carrying value of the assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as 

assets and liabilities of the foreign entity. They are translated into euro at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

The cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item of PPE. The cost for self-constructed assets include 

material costs, directly attributable employee benefit costs and other direct costs arising from making the item complete for its intended purpose. 

Borrowing costs immediately arising from the acquisition, construction or manufacture of qualifying fixed assets are capitalised as part of the 

asset’s acquisition cost.

In the event that an item of PPE comprises several components with different useful lives, each component is recognised as a separate item. 

Any replacement costs are capitalised and the remaining carrying value at the date of replacement is derecognised. 

Costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of or service an item of PPE are included in the item’s carrying value only when it is 

probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Costs 

of servicing, i.e. repair and maintenance costs, are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

The item’s residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period and adjusted, when 

necessary, to reflect changes in expected economic benefits.

Depreciation of an item of PPE begins when it is available for use, i.e. when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 

operating in the manner intended by management. Depreciation will cease when an item of PPE is classified as held for sale (or included in a 

disposal group held for sale) in accordance with IFRS 5, “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

Gains and losses arising from the decommissioning and sale of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss under other 

operating income or expenses. The gain or loss on sale is defined as the difference between the selling price and the remaining acquisition cost.

The Group has not received government grants during the financial years 2016 and 2017.
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Goodwill

Research and development

Other intangible assets

The depreciation of intangible assets with a definite useful life are as follows:

5 to 10 years

10 to 20 years

Inventories

The Group has depreciable brands and those with an indefinite estimated useful life. The high recognition of certain brands and conducted 

market research support the view of management that those brands will affect cash flow generation for an indefinite period of time.

Goodwill created through business combinations is measured at the amount by which the sum of the purchase price, the share of non-

controlling interests in the acquired entity and the purchaser's previously held share in the entity exceed the fair value of the net assets 

acquired.

Goodwill is not amortised but tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication of impairment. For this purpose, goodwill is 

allocated to cash generating units. Goodwill is recognised at historical cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Research costs are recognised as expenses in profit or loss. The Group has no capitalised development costs in 2016-2017.

Depreciation will start when the asset is available for use. An asset that is not yet available for use is tested annually for impairment. Capitalised 

development costs are recognised at historical cost less depreciation and impairment. The useful life of capitalised development costs is 3 to 10 

years, during which time the capitalised expenditure will be recognised as expenses by straight-line depreciation. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost if the cost of the item can be measured reliably and it is likely that expected future economic 

benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group. 

Intangible assets with a limited useful life are recognised as an expense using straight-line depreciation during their known or estimated useful 

life. Intangible assets which have an indefinite useful life are not amortised but tested annually for impairment. The Group has brands with an 

indefinite estimated useful life.

Customer contracts and related customer relationships

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in first-out (FIFO) method. The cost of an 

acquired asset comprises all costs of purchase including transport, handling and other direct expenses. The cost of self-produced finished 

goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour expenses, other direct expenses, and a systematically allocated share of 

fixed and variable production overheads based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. Cost excludes borrowing costs. The net 

realisable value is the sales price expected to be received on them in the normal course of business less the estimated costs necessary to bring 

the product to completion and the costs of selling.

Brands

The item’s residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period and adjusted, when 

necessary, to reflect changes in expected economic benefits.

Depreciation of an intangible asset begins when it is available for use, i.e. when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 

of operating in the manner intended by management. 

Depreciation will cease when an intangible asset is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group held for sale) in accordance with 

IFRS 5, “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.
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The Group as lessee

Arrangements which may contain a lease

- Fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets; and

- The arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

Pension plans

An impairment loss is recorded when the carrying value of an asset is greater than its recoverable amount. Impairment is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss. Impairment losses attributable to a cash-generating unit are used for deducting first the goodwill allocated to the 

cash-generating unit and, thereafter, the other assets of the unit on an equal basis. The useful life of an asset subject to depreciation is 

reassessed when the impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if there has 

been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount. However, the reversal of an impairment loss shall not 

exceed the carrying amount of the asset had no impairment loss been recognised. An impairment loss recorded for goodwill cannot be reversed 

under any circumstances.

Pension security for the Group’s personnel is provided through arrangements with external insurance companies and the pension costs are 

recognised as an expense in the year they are incurred. The Group uses only defined contribution plans in which the annual pension insurance 

contribution paid by the company is also the final expense.

Leases of property, plant and equipment (PPE) where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 

finance leases. Items acquired under finance leases are recognised, when the lease commences, in the statement of financial position at the 

lower of the fair value of the leased asset measured at the lease date and the present value of the minimum lease payment. Items acquired 

under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term. Lease payments are divided into finance 

expenses and debt amortisation during the lease period, so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 

liability for each period. Variable leases are recognised as expenses during the periods in which they are incurred. Leasing commitments are 

included in financial liabilities.

Leases where the lessor retains a substantial part of the risks and benefits of ownership are treated as other leases. Payments made under 

other lease agreements are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the duration of the lease period. Incentives 

received are deducted from the paid lease payments on the basis of the time pattern of the benefit.

At the outset of the arrangement the Group assesses, on the basis of the substance of the agreement, whether the arrangement is a lease or 

whether it contains a lease. A lease is considered to exist if the following conditions are met: 

If the arrangement includes a lease, the agreement will be governed by the provisions of IAS 17, “Leases”. Other factors in the arrangement will 

be governed by the provisions of applicable IFRS standards.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group makes an assessment of whether there are any indications of asset impairment. If any such 

indications exist the recoverable amount of the respective asset is measured. Regardless of any indications of impairment the recoverable 

amount is also measured annually for the following items: goodwill, intangible assets (brands) with indefinite useful lives, and intangible assets 

under construction. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. The need for 

impairment is reviewed at the level of a cash-generating unit, defined as the lowest level of unit that is mainly independent of other units and 

whose cash flows are separable from and largely independent of the cash flows of other similar units. A cash-generating unit represents the 

lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Assets that are common to the entire Group, 

serve several cash-generating units and do not generate a separate cash flow, are allocated to cash-generating units in a reasonable and 

coherent manner and are tested as part of each cash-generating unit. As a result of the acquisitions carried out in 2014 and 2015, the Group 

has specified two separate cash generating units, CGU Finland and CGU Sweden. The carrying values of these cash generating units were 

tested by means of test calculations. The Group also separately tests the carrying values of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. 

Impairment tests for the cash generating units is carried out by using the Discounted Cash Flow method and for intangible assets with an 

indefinite useful life by using the Relief from Royalty method. The tests are in line with the executive management’s views on the future 

development of business and the operating enviroment, as well as the specified discount rate. Sensitivity analyses are carried out in connection 

with impairment tests. The nature of the Group’s intangible assets and carrying amounts are presented on page 18. The impairment tests are 

presented on page 19.

The recoverable amount is the fair value of the asset less the costs incurred by the sale or the value-in-use, whichever is greater. Value-in-use 

refers to the expected discounted future net cash flow to be derived from the cash-generating unit. The discount rate is a post-tax rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
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Income taxes for the year and deferred taxes

Revenue recognition

Goods and services sold

Interest and dividends

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method and dividend income is recognised when right to dividends has been 

established. 

Deferred taxes are calculated using the tax rate or tax rates which have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 

period.

A provision is recognised when the Group has a legal or actual obligation as the result of a past event, it is likely that the payment obligation will 

be realised and the magnitude of the obligation can be reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure 

required to settle the obligation. The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money at the time of review and the risks involved in the obligation. If a reimbursement can be obtained from a third party for part of the 

obligation, the reimbursement is treated as a separate asset when the reimbursement is practically certain. Provision amounts are assessed at 

each reporting date and adjusted to correspond with the best estimate at the time of review. Any adjustments to provisions are recorded in the 

income statement under the same item where the provision was originally recorded. Increase in provisions due to the passage of time is 

recognised as an interest expense.

A contingent liability is an obligation that may arise as a result of earlier events and whose existence will be confirmed only if an uncertain event 

outside the control of the Group is realized. A contingent liability can also be viewed as an existing payment obligation which probably does not 

require fulfilment or whose magnitude cannot be reliably determined. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the Notes.

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it directly relates to items 

recognised in other comprehensive income or in equity. In such cases, tax is also recognised in the relevant items. Current tax is determined for 

the taxable profit for the period according to the tax rate that has been enacted or substantively enacted in each country by the date of the 

financial statements. Tax receivable and liability related to the taxes for the period are netted if and only when the Group has a legally 

enforceable right to offset the tax items and the Group will either effect the tax payment on a net basis or realize the tax receivable and pay the 

tax liability simultaneously.

Deferred taxes are calculated from temporary differences between the carrying value and the taxable amount. However, deferred tax liabilities 

are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill or if they arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 

transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable income. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for investments made in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except when the timing of the 

reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future.

Major temporary differences in the Group arise from the depreciation of property, plant and equipment, unused tax losses, and the adjustments 

to fair value during the acquisition of business operations.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 

temporary differences can be utilised. However, a deferred income tax asset is not recognised if it arises from the initial recognition of an asset 

or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable income. 

Recognition of deferred tax assets is always assessed at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset in the Group if and only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 

against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax asset and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 

on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to set off deferred income tax assets and liabilities or 

realize the tax receivable and pay the tax liability simultaneously over such future period during which a significant amount of deferred income 

tax liabilities are expected to be paid or a significant amount of deferred income tax assets are expected to be deducted.

Revenue includes the consideration from the sale of products and services measured at fair value and adjusted with indirect taxes, discounts 

granted and exchange differences for foreign currency sales. 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the major risks, rewards and actual control incidental to ownership of the goods have been 

transferred to the buyer. This occurs normally at the time of transfer of the goods in accordance with the contract terms and conditions.
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Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and which 

are not held for sale or not specifically classified as available-for-sale at the time of original recognition. They are measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method. They are recognised in the statement of financial position, according to their nature, as current assets or non-

current assets (those maturing in over 12 months).

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. 

They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of them within 12 months of the end of the reporting period, in 

which case they are included in current assets. 

Available-for-sale financial assets may comprise investments in shares or debt instruments, such as bonds. They are measured at fair value. 

Investments in unlisted shares whose fair value cannot be reliably measured because their fair value varies within the range of fluctuation and 

the probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed, are valued at cost. The fair value of an investment is 

determined on the basis of the bid price of the investment. If quoted prices are not available for available-for-sale financial assets, the Group 

applies various valuation techniques to measure them. These include, for example, recent transactions between independent parties, 

discounted cash flows or other similar instrument valuations. The measurement is generally based on information obtained from the market and 

only minimally on factors determined by the Group. 

Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are recorded in other comprehensive income and reported in the fair value 

reserve included in the ‘Other reserves’ equity item, taking into consideration the tax impact. Accumulated changes in fair value are transferred 

as reclassification adjustments from shareholders’ equity to the income statement when the investment is sold or when its fair value has been 

impaired to such an extent that an impairment loss should be recognised. Interest income on available-for-sale debt instruments are recognised 

in finance income using the effective interest method. 

Financial assets consist of cash on hand, bank deposits available for withdrawal on demand, and other highly liquid short-term investments.

The fair value determination principles for financial assets are presented on pages 30-31 under “Fair value of financial assets and liabilities”.

The category of financial assets recognised at fair value through profit or loss comprises financial assets acquired to be held for trading or 

designated as such at inception (“fair value option”). The category can be changed only in rare special circumstances. Financial assets may be 

included in the latter category only under certain special circumstances. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value, whether realised or 

unrealised, are recognised in profit or loss in the financial period in which they arise.

The Group does not have any derivative contracts.

Derivative contracts are initially carried at fair value at the date on which the Group became a party to the contract, and are subsequently 

measured at fair value. The Group does not apply hedge accounting to interest rate swaps since they do not meet the criteria specified under 

IAS 39. In that case, a change in the fair value of hedging instruments is immediately recognised in profit or loss under finance income and 

expenses.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets recognised at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-

maturity investments, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification of financial assets takes place at initial 

recognition and depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 

Transaction costs are included in the original carrying value for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction 

costs related to financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. All purchases and sales of 

financial assets are recognised on the trade date, being the date when the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are derecognised from the balance sheet when the Group has lost the contractual right to the cash flows or when the Group 

has transferred a substantial portion of the risks and income outside the Group.
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Financial liabilities and borrowing costs

Equity

Operating profit

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value. Financial liabilities are subsequently, with the exception of derivative contract liabilities, 

carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Transaction costs associated with financial liabilities are included in the initial 

measurement at fair value. Transaction costs related to derivatives are recognised as an immediate expense. Financial liabilities are included in 

non-current and current liabilities. Financial liabilities are classified as current if the Group has no unconditional right to postpone repayment of 

the debt for at least 12 months from end of the reporting period. Derivative financial liabilities that are subject to hedge accounting are classified 

according to the hedged item.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group evaluates whether there is objective evidence of impairment with regard to an individual financial 

asset or a group of financial assets. A financial asset or group of financial assets are impaired only if there is objective evidence of impairment 

as a result of one or more events that occurred after the recognition of the asset.

If the fair value of an equity investment classified as an available-for-sale financial asset is significantly below the acquisition cost over a period 

of time determined by the Group, this indicates an impairment of the investment. If there is proof of impairment, the loss in the fair value reserve 

is transferred into an item recognizable in profit or loss. Impairment losses on shares classified as available-for-sale financial assets are not 

reversed in profit or loss, as is the case with impairment losses recognised on fixed-income instruments that are subsequently reversed.

Objective evidence of the impairment of loans and other receivables, such as trade receivables, as well as investments held to maturity, include 

significant financial difficulties on the part of a debtor, the likelihood of bankruptcy, payment default or a payment delay exceeding 90 days. If 

there is such evidence, the impairment loss recognised in profit or loss is the difference measured between the carrying value and the present 

value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 

decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the recognised loss shall be 

reversed in profit or loss.

The IAS 1 standard, “Presentation of financial statements”, does not define the concept of operating profit. The Group has defined it as follows: 

Operating profit is the net amount derived by adding to revenue other operating income, less used materials and goods adjusted with the 

change in inventories of finished goods and work in progress as well as expenses from production for own use, less costs from employee 

benefits, depreciation and possible impairment losses, and other operating expenses. All other items of the income statement are presented 

below operating profit. Exchange differences and changes in the fair values of derivatives are included in operating profit, provided that they 

arise from items related to business operations. Otherwise, they are recognised in financial items.

Credit fees related to loan commitments are handled as transaction costs to the extent that it is probable that the entire loan commitment or part 

thereof will be drawn. The fee is then recognised on the balance sheet until the loan is drawn. In connection with the drawdown, the credit fee 

related to loan commitments is recognised as part of the transaction costs. To the extent that it is probable that the loan commitment will not be 

drawn, the credit fee is recognised as a prepaid expense in respect of the liquidity-related services and is accrued for the period of the loan 

commitment.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or manufacture of an asset satisfying general and specific conditions are 

capitalised as a part of the cost of the said asset when it is likely that these will generate future economic benefits and when the costs can be 

measured reliably. Capitalisation ceases when the asset is substantially ready for the intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are 

recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

The fair value of the outstanding debt of a convertible loan is determined using the market rate of a corresponding liability at the time of issue. 

The outstanding debt is amortised at cost until it is extinguished by converting the loan into shares or through repayment. The residue of the 

received amount, or the share of shareholders’ equity less related taxes, has been recognised in the invested non-restricted equity reserve.

The fair value determination principles for all financial liabilities are presented on pages 30-31 under “Fair value of financial assets and 

liabilities”.

The Group classifies the instruments it has issued in either equity or liabilities (financial liabilities) based on their nature. An equity instrument is 

any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Expenses related to the issuance or 

acquisition of equity instruments are presented as a deduction from equity. If the Company repurchases any equity instruments, the acquisition 

cost of such instruments is deducted from equity.
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New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has announced the following new or amended standards and interpretations, which the 

Group has not yet adopted. The Group will apply each standard and interpretation as of its effective date or, if the effective date is some other 

date than the first day of the accounting period, as of the beginning of the accounting period following the effective date.

IFRS 9, “Financial instruments”: IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities, 

and provides new rules for hedge accounting. In July 2014, IASB published new changes in the classification and measurement rules and 

adopted a new impairment model. The latest changes completed the financial instruments standard. According to Func Food Group’s 

assessment, the standard mainly impacts the modelling of expected credit losses, when the impairments related to uncertain receivables are 

assessed. The standard is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1.1.2018.

IFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers”: IASB has released a new standard for income recognition which replaces IAS 18 for the 

sale of goods and services and IAS 11 for long-term projects. The principle of the new standard is that revenue is recognised when the client 

gains control over the goods or services – the emphasis now being on control and not on risks and benefits as before. The standard allows 

retrospective application specific to the company involved. In this case, transitional period adjustments are recorded under retained earnings 

available at the time when the application is started, that is, without adjusting the figures for the reference period. The new standard needs to be 

applied only to agreements that have not been fully executed by the start date. The standard does not have a material impact on Func Food 

Group’s existing principles, on which basis an agrement is individualised with a customer, the payment obligations included in an agreement are 

specified, the agreement’s price is specified and allocated, and the sales profit is recognised, when each payment obligation has been fulfilled. 

Thus, the new standard does not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. The standard is effective for accounting 

periods beginning on or after 1.1.2018.

There are no other IFRS standards or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact on the 

Group. 

IFRS 16, “Leases”: According to IFRS 16, all leases are presented in the lessee’s statement of financial position. The lessee shall recognise a 

user right item in the statement of financial position based on its right to use the relevant asset, as well as a lease liability based on the 

obligation to pay lease payments. The standard includes current agreements and voluntary reliefs prepared for low value items. The Group has 

initiated the preliminary assessment of the IFRS 16 standard’s impacts on the financial statements, even though the amount of the impacts has 

not yet been specified. One impact is that the Group shall recognise new financial assets and liabilities in the statement of finacial position, 

which are mainly facilities with the existing leases. In addition, the nature of the costs related to such leases shall change, because the leases 

cost is replaced with the depreciation of the item and the interest expense caused by the lease liability, which shall be reported as part of finance 

liabilities. The standard is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1.1.2019.
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Func Food Group

Notes on the Group

1. Segment reporting

Revenue by market area

2017 2016

Finland 14 281 041,02 15 217 673,83

Sweden 24 747 493,46 23 595 181,74

Others 1 056 810,78 1 152 421,28

Total 40 085 345,26 39 965 276,85

2017 2016

Customer A 9 192 157,07 7 958 403,66

Customer B 5 921 556,43 7 724 332,97

Customer C 5 610 158,04 5 887 248,54

Customer D 4 321 269,11 0,00

Total 25 045 140,65 21 569 985,17

Non-current assets and goodwill*

2017 2016

Finland 13 772 428,95 13 019 027,01

Sweden 19 259 092,34 23 604 585,26

Goodwill 20 091 468,78 20 443 913,41

Total 53 122 990,07 57 067 525,68

2. Other operating income 

2017 2016

Insurance compensations 250,11 1 531,90

Profit from sales of tangible fixed assets 27 943,43 52 889,38

Income due to unrealized additional purchase prices -76 702,04 8 132 891,52

Other income 123 463,78 62 282,16

Total 74 955,28 8 249 594,96

3. Employee benefits expense

2017 2016

Wages and salaries 3 744 838,94 3 656 450,68

Other social security expenses 1 164 054,31 1 139 894,29

Total 4 908 893,25 4 796 344,97

4. Research and development

Research and development costs recognised as an expense totalled EUR 17,795.61 in 2017 (EUR 29,751.53 in 2016).

5. Depreciation and amortisation 

Depreciation by asset type: 2017 2016

Intangible assets:

  Intangible rights 3 014 565,85 3 061 259,14

Property, plant and equipment:

  Machinery and equipment 1 222 267,02 924 065,72

Total 4 236 832,87 3 985 324,86

Impairment by asset type: 2017 2016

Intangible assets:

  Intangible rights 0,00 5 593 521,50

Total 0,00 5 593 521,50

Func Food Group has only one operating segment because from the point of view of the Company's business model, the 

nature of its operations, and its administrative structure the business is lead and the profitability is followed as one entity.

Revenue is presented according to the customer's home country. In 2017 the Group had four (4) and in 2016 three (3) major 

customers accounting for more than 10% of the entire Group’s revenue.

* Excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets. Assets and investments are allocated according to the country 

involved. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units. The principles for allocating goodwill have been described in Annex 

11.

During the financial year, the Group had an average of 73 (72) permanent employees. At the end of the year, the number of 

personnel was 72 (67).

More information on the employee benefits of managers classified as related parties can be found on page 33 under “Related 

party transactions”.
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Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment by asset type: 2017 2016

Intangible assets:

  Intangible rights 3 014 565,85 8 654 780,64

Property, plant and equipment:

  Machinery and equipment 1 222 267,02 924 065,72

Total 4 236 832,87 9 578 846,36

6. Other operating expenses

2017 2016

Rental expenses 1 154 169,24 1 314 558,82

External services 1 364 137,31 1 370 738,97

Other expense items 6 714 519,86 5 487 338,01

Total 9 232 826,41 8 172 635,80

7. Auditor’s fees

Ernst & Young 2017 2016

Audit 82 730,60 124 966,53

Assignments referred to in section 1(1,2) of the Auditing Act. 0,00 3 800,00

Tax advice 9 997,06 28 766,70

Other services 2 000,00 76 208,88

Total 94 727,66 233 742,11

KPMG 2017 2016

Audit 44 037,49 0,00

Total 44 037,49 0,00

8. Finance income

2017 2016

Interest income 6 583,87 8 647,36

67 975,56 73 401,05

Total 74 559,43 82 048,41

9. Finance costs

2017 2016

Exchange rate losses 201 692,63 338 064,20

Interest expense for finance lease liabilities -3 477,00 -21 155,15

Interest expense for other financial liabilities 3 744 931,03 4 095 935,60

Other finance costs 510 760,43 425 357,45

Total 4 453 907,09 4 838 202,10

10. Income taxes

2017 2016

Taxes for previous years -617,21 -29,46

Deferred taxes 683 983,52 -797 962,63

Total 683 366,31 -797 992,09

2017 2016

Profit before taxes -8 402 656,40 -4 080 618,70

1 680 531,28 816 123,74

Non-taxable income 4 812,85 1 626 530,65

Non-deductible expenses 1 833,17 -1 090 363,56

Tax effect of foreign subsidiaries -120 424,58 -59 964,96

-889 518,91 -551 991,39

50 139,46 57 628,14

Other temporary differences -43 389,88 0,00

Taxes for the previous years -617,21 29,46

Taxes in the income statement 683 366,18 797 992,09

Exchange differences have been recognised under other operating expenses and other operating income in the income 

statement. Exchange differences recognised through profit and loss totalled EUR 374 in 2017 (EUR 9,119.72 in 2016).

Reconciliation of the tax expense in the income statement and taxes calculated at the 20% tax rate of the Group’s 

domicile country:

Tax on the Group’s profit before taxes based on the Finnish tax rate

Unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from tax losses

Use of previously unrecognised tax losses

Exchange rate gains for financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
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Func Food Group

11. Intangible assets

Goodwill

Brands, indefinite 

useful life*

Brands, definite 

useful life

Customer 

relationships

Other intangible 

goods Total

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan 2017 26 764 091,32 7 572 226,00 7 834 558,08 25 777 588,60 3 336,04 67 951 800,04

Exchange differences -1 207 253,48 0,00 -352 895,57 -1 308 099,00 0,00 -2 868 248,04

Acquisition cost at 31 Dec 2017 25 556 837,84 7 572 226,00 7 481 662,51 24 469 489,60 3 336,04 65 083 552,00

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and 

impairment at 1 Jan 2017 6 320 177,91 0,00 1 182 173,93 5 154 836,17 3 336,04 12 660 524,05

Depreciation for the year 0,00 0,00 506 396,12 2 508 169,74 0,00 3 014 565,86

Exchange differences -854 808,85 0,00 -236 130,65 -952 201,25 0,00 -2 043 140,75

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and 

impairment at 31 Dec 2017 5 465 369,06 0,00 1 452 439,40 6 710 804,66 3 336,04 13 631 949,16

Carrying amount at 31 Dec 2017 20 091 468,78 7 572 226,00 6 029 223,11 17 758 684,94 0,00 51 451 602,84

Remaining depreciation period 11 to 12 years 6 to 7 years

*FAST brand

Goodwill

Brands, indefinite 

useful life*

Brands, definite 

useful life

Customer 

relationships

Other intangible 

goods Total

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan 2016 26 764 091,32 7 572 226,00 7 834 558,08 25 760 380,08 3 336,04 67 934 591,52

Exchange differences 0,00 0,00 0,00 17 208,52 0,00 17 208,52

Acquisition cost at 31 Dec 2016 26 764 091,32 7 572 226,00 7 834 558,08 25 777 588,60 3 336,04 67 951 800,04

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and 

impairment at 1 Jan 2016 0,00 0,00 460 972,86 1 868 492,36 3 336,04 2 332 801,26

Depreciation for the year 0,00 0,00 515 995,39 2 542 858,71 0,00 3 058 854,10

Amortization 5 593 521,50 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 5 593 521,50

Exchange differences 726 656,41 0,00 205 205,68 743 485,10 0,00 1 675 347,19

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and 

impairment at 31 Dec 2016 6 320 177,91 0,00 1 182 173,93 5 154 836,17 3 336,04 12 660 524,05

Carrying amount at 31 Dec 2016 20 443 913,41 7 572 226,00 6 652 384,15 20 622 752,43 0,00 55 291 275,99

Remaining depreciation period 12 to 13 years 7 to 8 years

*FAST brand

Allocation of goodwill

Goodwill per CGU, EUR000 31.12.2017 % 31.12.2016 %

CGU Finland 7.349,1 37 7.349,1 36

CGU Sweden 12.742,3 63 13.094,8 64

Total 20.091,4 100 20.443,9 100

Intangible assets with an indefinite 

useful life (CGU Finland), carrying value 

EUR000

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

FAST trademark 7.572,2 7.572,2

Total 7.572,2 7.572,2

Func Food Group’s business idea is to provide consumers with products related to active living and health. The Company evaluates its profitability within a 

single segment that covers the entire Group. Func Food Group’s business model, the nature of its operation, and the administrative structure support this 

solution. Within the segment, goodwill is allocated to Cash Generating Units (CGU). As a result of the acquisitions carried out in 2014 and 2015, the Group 

has two cash generating units, CGU Finland and CGU Sweden. CGU Finland includes the brands and goodwill obtained by the Group with the acquisitions 

carried out in Finland, as well as their utilisation. Therefore the sales of FAST or CocoVi brands, for example, are included in CGU Finland regardless of 

whether the sale takes place in Finland or another country. Likewise CGU Sweden includes the brands and goodwill obtained by the Group with an acquisition 

carried out in Sweden, as well as their utilisation. For example, the sales of Celsius beverages is considered to be part of CGU Sweden regardless of in which 

country the sales take place. The allocation of goodwill (carrying values) to CGUs has been summarised in the table below. CGU Finland has one brand, 

FAST, with an indefinite estimated useful life. The high recognition of the brand and conducted market research support the view of management that the 

brand will affect cash flow generation for an indefinite period of time. The carrying value of the FAST brand has been presented in the table below. 
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Discount rates
CGU Finland 

before taxes

CGU Finland 

after taxes

CGU Sweden 

before taxes

CGU Sweden 

after taxes

2017 13,16 % 11,16 % 13,30 % 10,83 %

2016 16,47 % 13,61 % 16,78 % 13,57 %

CGU Finland 2016: no impairment losses were recognised in the income statement on the basis of impairment tests. In 2016 CGU 

Finland’s recoverable amount exceeded the carrying value by approximately six (6) million euros.

CGU Sweden 2016: the Group’s management updated its estimation on revenue and cash flow development during the years 2017-2021. Particularly in other 

business operations than in beverage sales, the future demand of products was estimated to be lower than before. On a smaller scale, although the average 

annual growth percentage related to Celcius beverages and the relative profitability of operations was projected to be close to previous forecasts, the total 

estimated turnover for 2016-2017 was lowered from the previous estimate. The conclusion of the analysis was that the recoverable amount of money of CGU 

Sweden (value-in-use) was approximately 36.8 million euros, or below the carrying value. As a result, an impairment loss of 5.6 million euros was recorded for 

2016 against goodwill. The impairment loss is recognised on the income statement in its own line as part of depreciation, amortization, and impairment group. 

The definition of CGU Sweden is presented in the section above in Allocation of goodwill.

The discount rates for each CGU have been presented in the table below.   

CGU Sweden 2016: the revenue was estimated to increase to EUR 29 million by the end of 2021 (CAGR +5%) considering the sales of the Celsius brand in 

Sweden and in other markets and the sales of the Freddy brand in Sweden. The terminal growth rate was estimated at 2% p.a. with WACC at 13.57%. The 

value-in-use indicated by the calculation fell below the carrying value, which is why the Group recognises an impairment of EUR 5.6 million against goodwill.

       - The discount rate would rise by 2.0 percentage points and terminal growth drop by 2.0 percentage points; or

       - The growth in revenue (CAGR) in the forecasting period would drop by 6 percentage points vs. the estimate, i.e. CAGR (compounded annual growth 

rate) would be 16% and revenue would be 36 million euros in 2021.

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units are determined by calculations based on value-in-use by discounting the estimated future cash flows using 

the Discounted Cash Flow method. Impairment testing is carried out to determine whether the carrying amount is fully recoverable whenever there are 

indications of impairment, but at least once a year. The future cash flow estimates used to test impairment are based on financial plans approved by the 

management for individual CGUs. The cash flow estimates used are based on the financial plans for the next five years. In impairment testing, the cash flow 

for subsequent years is estimated to increase by 2% per year (terminal growth rate), which is close to the estimated long-term inflation rate. The discount rates 

used in calculations are based on the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) which reflects the market view of the time value of money and the risks 

related to the business of Func Food Group.

The business growth assumptions used in the cash flow estimates for individual CGUs and the assumptions concerning price and cost developments are 

based on management views on the development of demand and markets which are compared with external sources of information. The productivity and 

efficiency assumptions used in the calculations are based on internal objectives which account for previous actual development. The parameters of the risk-

free interest rate, risk factor (beta) and risk premium used to determine the discount rate are based on information available on the markets.

CGU Finland 2016: the revenue was estimated to increase to EUR 46 million by the end of 2021 (CAGR +22%) considering the sales of FAST and CocoVi 

brands in Finland and the development of export activities. Approximately three-quarters of the increased revenue during the review period was estimated to 

come from the sales of FAST and CocoVi products in Sweden and other countries outside Finland. The terminal growth rate was estimated at 2% p.a. with 

WACC at 13.61%. The value-in-use would fall below the carrying value if the following changes were to take place in the forecast parameters while other 

assumptions remained unchanged:

Sensitivity analyses were carried out in connection with impairment tests based on changes in the growth rate and the discount rate. 

The value of intangibles assets with an indefinite useful life (trademarks) is based on calculations of savings in royalties, when brands do not need to be 

licensed by third parties. In the calculations the saved royalties are discounted at a rate which is based on the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) 

which reflects the market view of the time value of money and the risks related to the business of Func Food Group. The achieved savings are compared with 

the trademarks’ carrying values. Impairment testing is carried out to determine whether the carrying amount is fully recoverable whenever there are indications 

of impairment, but at least once a year. The future cash flow estimates used to test impairment are based on financial plans approved by the management for 

individual trademarks. The cash flow estimates used are based on the financial plans for the next five years. In impairment testing, the cash flow for 

subsequent years is estimated to increase by 2% per year (terminal growth rate), which is close to the estimated long-term inflation rate.

No impairment losses were recognised in the income statement on the basis of impairment tests in 2017. According to the tests, the recoverable amount for 

CGU Finland and CGU Sweden together exceeded the carrying value by approximately 20 million euros.

CGU Finland 2017: the revenue was estimated to increase to EUR 33 million by the end of 2022 (CAGR +16%) considering the sales of FAST and CocoVi 

brands in Finland and the development of export activities. Approximately three-quarters of the increased revenue during the review period was estimated to 

come from the sales of FAST and CocoVi products in Sweden and other countries outside Finland. The terminal growth rate was estimated at 2% p.a. with 

WACC at 11.16%. The value-in-use would fall below the carrying value if the following changes were to take place in the forecast parameters while other 

assumptions remained unchanged:

       - The discount rate would rise by 0.5 percentage points and terminal growth drop by 1.0 percentage points; or
       - The growth in revenue (CAGR) in the forecasting period would drop by 3 percentage points vs. the estimate, i.e. CAGR (compounded annual growth 

rate) would be 13% and revenue would be 29 million euros in 2022.

CGU Sweden 2017: the revenue was estimated to increase to EUR 44 million by the end of 2022 (CAGR +12%) considering the sales of the Celsius brand in 

Sweden and in other markets and the sales of the Freddy brand in Sweden. Approximately two-thrids of the revenue’s increase during the review period was 

estimated to come from the sales of Celsius products outside Sweden. The terminal growth rate was estimated at 2% p.a. with WACC at 10.83%. The value-in-

use would fall below the carrying value if the following changes were to take place in the forecast parameters while other assumptions remained unchanged:

       - The discount rate would rise by 2.0 percentage points and terminal growth drop by 2.0 percentage points; or
       - The growth in revenue (CAGR) in the forecasting period would drop by 11 percentage points vs. the estimate, i.e. CAGR (compounded annual growth 

rate) would be 1% and revenue would be 26 million euros in 2022.
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12. Tangible assets
Machinery and 

equipment Cars Total

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan 2017 3 262 878,00 919 028,63 4 181 906,63

Increases 69 429,68 975 302,99 1 044 732,67

Decreases -747 161,67 -431 355,65 -1 178 517,32

Exchange differences -79 827,62 83 728,78 3 901,16

Acquisition cost at 31 Dec 2017 2 505 318,39 1 546 704,75 4 052 023,14

1 840 466,88 565 190,06 2 405 656,94

Depreciation for the year 658 758,21 563 508,71 1 222 266,92

Accumulated depreciation of decreases -791 085,00 -293 587,86 -1 084 672,86

Exchange differences -119 299,53 -43 315,58 -162 615,11

1 588 840,56 791 795,33 2 380 635,89

Carrying amount at 31 Dec 2017 916 477,83 754 909,42 1 671 387,25

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan 2016 3 220 601,00 777 760,51 3 998 361,51

Increases 44 966,40 138 820,00 183 786,40

Decreases 0,00 -10 319,12 -10 319,12

Exchange differences -2 689,40 12 767,24 10 077,84

Acquisition cost at 31 Dec 2016 3 262 878,00 919 028,63 4 181 906,63

1 198 645,45 279 398,14 1 478 043,59

Depreciation for the year 641 821,43 282 244,29 924 065,72

Exchange differences 0,00 3 547,63 3 547,63

1 840 466,88 565 190,06 2 405 656,94

Carrying amount at 31 Dec 2016 1 422 411,12 353 838,57 1 776 249,69

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairment at 31 Dec 

2016

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairment at 1 Jan 

2016

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairment at 1 Jan 

2017

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairment at 31 Dec 

2017
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31 Dec 2017

Machinery and 

equipment Cars Total

Acquisition cost 0,00 1 468 602,97 1 468 602,97

Accumulated depreciation 0,00 -164 249,59 -164 249,59

Carrying amount 0,00 1 632 852,56 1 632 852,56

31 Dec 2016

Machinery and 

equipment Cars Total

Acquisition cost 14 938,82 756 559,65 771 498,47

Accumulated depreciation -8 911,09 468 763,86 459 852,77

Carrying amount 23 849,91 287 795,79 311 645,70

14. Acquired business operations

Acquisitions during 2017

Acquisitions during 2016

ACMF Holding Ab Group: Realisation of a 70 million Swedish Krona conditional additional purchase price of an acquisition concluded in 2015 would have 

required that the EBITDA reported by the acquired subgroup for the period of 2015 and/or 2016 be at least 110 million Swedish Krona. If the EBITDA would be 

70 million Krona or more but under 110 million Krona, the additional purchase price would have been realised in part. The evaluation period ended in 

December 2016. The conditions for the additional purchase price were not fulfilled, therefore the company recorded other operating income in the amount of 7 

382 892 euros (70 million Krona) and a corresponding decrease in liabilities.

Suomen Lisäravinne Oy: the Group acquired 51 % of the outstanding shares of Suomen Lisäravinne Oy in 2015. According to the sales contract, the seller 

and the buyer can both demand that the remaining shares be redeemed at the latest by the beginning of 2017, at which time the price to be paid for the 

remaining shares shall be determined according to the shareholder agreement and shall be based on the rolling 12-month EBITDA of the company. The fair 

value of the remaining 49 % was determined to be 1 000 000 euros at the time of the transaction, i.e. the highest payable price based on the agreement. On 

the balance sheet date the management of the Group estimated that the purchase price of the remaining shares will be 500 000 euros, therefore the company 

recorded other operating income in the amount of 500 000 euros and a corresponding decrease in liabilities.

Cocovi Import Oy: Realisation of a 250 000 euro conditional additional purchase price of an acquisition concluded in 2014 would have required that the gross 

margin of the company for three consecutive months exceed 333 333 euros. The evaluation period ended in July 2016. The conditions of the additional 

purchase price were not fulfilled, therefore the company recorded other operating income in the amount of 250 000 euros and the corresponding decrease in 

liabilities.

In 2016 the Group has recorded other operating income and corresponding decreases in liabilities as follows:

The Group did not acquire business operations in 2016.

Other operating income recorded for the period of 2016 from unrealized additional purchase prices from previous periods

Property, plant and equipment include assets purchased through finance leases as follows:

The Group did not acquire business operations in 2017.

In 2017 the Group has recorded other operating income and corresponding changes in liabilities as follows:

Other operating income recorded for the period of 2017 from realized and unrealized additional purchase prices from previous periods

Suomen Lisäravinne Oy: the Group increased its ownership in Suomen Lisäravinne Oy to 100% during the financial year. The realised purchase price for the 

purchased shares exceeded the estimate made at the end of 2016 by approximately EUR 77,000, which the company recognised as a profit-decreasing item 

in the business operations’ other income.  The changes in liabilities related to the additional purchase price have been recognised in accordance with the 

agreed payment schedule.
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15. Other financial assets

Other financial assets in the statement of financial position include the following items:

2017 2016

Non-current

Equity investments 1 875,00 1 875,00

Total 1 875,00 1 875,00

16. Inventories

2017 2016

Raw materials and consumables 8 487 703,10 6 045 228,74

Advance payments 283 571,10 211 015,21

Total 8 771 274,20 6 256 243,95

17. Trade and other receivables

2017 2016

Accounts receivable 1 885 304,60 1 785 252,47

Loan receivables 0,00 0,00

Prepayments and accrued income 443 309,21 721 699,54

Other receivables 159 567,48 7 364 928,26

Total 2 488 181,29 9 871 880,27

18. Age analysis of trade receivables

2017 2016

Trade receivables not yet due 1 785 099,27 1 420 875,45

1-30 days overdue 44 334,82 200 261,66

31-180 days overdue 55 870,51 162 243,31

181-360 days overdue 0,00 1 129,71

Over a year overdue 0,00 742,34

Carrying value of trade receivables 1 885 304,60 1 785 252,47

During the reporting period, a total of EUR 23.5 million (EUR 22.8 million in 2016) was recognised in the 

income statement as an expense for raw materials and consumables and the change in inventories of 

finished goods and work in progress. Additionally, EUR 0.1 million was recognised, during the reporting 

period, as an expense as the book value of inventories was written down to their net realisable value (EUR 

0.2 million in 2016).

The Group recorded EUR 54 thousand as impairment losses for trade receivables during the financial year 

(EUR 139 thousand in 2016). So far, the Group policy has not involved arrangements for collateral in the 

case of trade and other receivables. 
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20. Significant items in accrued income

2017 2016

Wages, salaries and social security contributions 216,44 16 907,67

Advances paid 83 579,96 315 084,53

Others 359 512,81 389 707,34

Total 443 309,21 721 699,54

21. Cash and cash equivalents

2017 2016

Cash and bank accounts 1 319 247,16 735 068,21

Total 1 319 247,16 735 068,21

Some of the Finnish and Swedish companies in the Group have entered into a partial financing of trade 

receivables (the sale of trade receivables). In 2016-2017 the amount of trade receivables in accounting 

have been reduced as receivables have been sold, because material risks related to them have been 

transferred. At the end of the financial years 2016 and 2017, there were no transferred receivables in the 

consolidated statement of financial position that would still be recognised, and there were no corresponding 

secured financial liabilities.



page 24

Func Food Group

22. Notes on equity

Share capital

2016 2017

Shares at the beginning of the financial year 29 771 564 31 396 564

Equity issue 21.06.2016 1 625 000

Shares at the end of the financial year 31 396 564 31 396 564

The shares have no par value.

Invested non-restricted equity reserve

Convertible loans

Translation differences

The proposal of the Board of Directors relating to the treatment of the result of the accounting period

The price of shares subscribed in connection with share issues is recognised in the share capital in so far as the 

share issue resolution does not stipulate that the subscription price be recognised in the invested non-restricted 

equity reserve.

The invested non-restricted equity reserve contains equity investments and that part of the share subscription 

price that has not specifically been allocated to share capital. 

The translation differences reserve comprises translation differences arising from the translation of the financial 

statements of foreign units. Also, the translation differences arising from net investments of foreign units are 

included in the translation differences reserve.

The below table shows how the number of shares in Func Food Group Oyj has increased over time.

The Company has issued convertible loans and related subscription rights. These subscription rights entitle the 

subscription of a maximum of 14.5 million shares of Func Food Group Oyj when the loan terms are met.

The parent company’s financial statements showed a loss of EUR 0.6 million. The Board of Directors proposes 

that no dividend be paid and that the loss for the period be credited to the retained earnings account.
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2017 2016 2015

Non-current financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Bond 24 756 065,58 33 854 679,53 37 087 812,51

Subordinated loans 49 666,67 88 447,67

Convertible loan 7 919 313,99 3 775 481,95 0,00

Financial lease liabilities 590 387,26 200 726,13 361 732,41

Other loans 5 693 187,48 5 202 094,93 13 886 223,72

Total 39 008 620,98 43 121 430,21 51 335 768,64

Current financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Repayment of long-term financial loans 4 500 000,00 2 500 000,00 0,00

Financial lease liabilities 459 465,49 63 344,00 33 247,00

Other loans 25 000,00 500 000,00 476 159,77

Total 4 984 465,49 3 063 344,00 509 406,77

Monetary and non-monetary items of financial liabilities

Carrying value 

31.12.2016 Cash flow impact Other adjustments

Carrying value 

31.12.2017

Bond 36 354 679,53 -7 373 520,00 274 906,05 29 256 065,58

Convertible loans 3 775 481,95 3 775 592,13 368 239,91 7 919 313,99

Financial lease liabilities 264 070,13 -305 857,25 1 091 639,87 1 049 852,75

40 394 231,61 -3 903 785,12 1 734 785,83 38 225 232,32

Maturity dates of financial lease liabilities

2017 2016 2015

Not later than one year 526 123,00 194 592,63 261 795,33

549 084,00 76 548,17 149 992,61

Total 1 075 207,00 271 140,80 411 787,94

Future finance costs -25 354,25 -7 070,66 -16 808,53

Present value of financial lease liabilities 1 049 852,75 264 070,14 394 979,41

Maturity of the present value of financial lease liabilities

Not later than one year 459 465,49 189 401,43 224 640,79

590 387,26 74 668,71 170 338,62

Total 1 049 852,75 264 070,14 394 979,41

24. Financial risk management

Later than one year and not later than five years

Gross financial lease liabilities - minimum lease payments by 

maturity date

Later than one year and not later than five years

The financial lease comprises cars, machinery and equipment. Full details of financial leases are provided in Note 13 on page 21.

The main objectives of the Company’s financial activities are to procure capital, optimise capital costs and manage financial risks. The Board of 

Directors approves the general principles of the Group’s risk management operations, and the executive management is responsible for their 

practical implementation. The Group’s finances are managed by the parent company, which coordinates and controls the financial activities of 

the subsidiaries. The Group’s main financial risks include currency, interest rate, liquidity and credit risks. The objective of the Group’s financial 

risk management activities is to identify and measure the overall risk position resulting from the Group’s financial activities, and implement risk 

management measures ensuring that the overall financial risks do not exceed the Group’s risk-bearing capacity and risk-taking willingness.

Information relating to subordinated loans and convertible loans have been reported in the Report of the Board 

of Directors. After the end of the accounting period the bondholders of the Company have approved a change in 

the amortization schedule of the bond. According to the new schedule the loan will not be amortized in 2018.
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26. Interest rate risk

27. Liquidity risk

The Group operates globally and therefore faces transaction risks arising from various currency positions and risks that arise when investments, 

receivables and liabilities in various currencies are translated into the parent company’s functional currency. The objective of the Group’s 

treasury policy is to secure the profitability of operating activities by managing identified currency risks. 

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly consists of the interest rate sensitivity of its financial items, which refers to the immediate effect of changes 

in interest rates on the Group’s financial items, such as interest-bearing loans, investments and derivative contracts. The interest rate risk related 

to the reference rates of loans is of particular importance to the Group. The majority of loans from outside the Group have a variable rate and are 

not interest rate hedged at the date of the financial statements. The reference rate of the Group’s variable-rate debts is 3-month Euribor, and the 

average interest expense is 9.0% (9.0% in 2016).

Liquidity risk means that the Group’s financial assets and sources of additional funding do not cover the Group’s needs or that the acquisition of 

liquid assets causes expenses that are higher than market cost. The Group pays special attention to liquidity and the financing of further growth, 

and it aims at constantly evaluating and monitoring the financing required for running the operations in order to ensure adequate reserves of 

liquid funding for financing the operations and repaying loans when they become due. The main liquidity risks of the Group are related to the 

interest and repayment schedules and financing for liabilities, the periodic fluctuation of product sales during the year, the concentration of 

purchases for certain products in a few months during the year, and the amount of working capital needed. In order to ensure liquidity, the Group 

uses sales receivable financing arrangements and constantly strives to improve working capital management by negotiating, for instance, 

sufficiently long payment terms with suppliers and by optimising the size of stocks. When necessary, the liquidity of different parts of the Group 

are supported by intra-group loans. The Group’s liquid assets at the end of the year were EUR 1.3 million (EUR 0.7 million) and the Group’s 

interest-bearing loans were EUR 40.3 million (41.7). According to the loan terms in effect at the end of the accounting period the total planned 

loan repayments in 2018 will total EUR 4.7 million. After the end of the accounting period the bondholders of the Company have approved a 

change, according to which a loan repayment of EUR 4.5 million will be moved to year 2019.

The main currencies used by the Group are the US dollar (USD), the Swedish krona (SEK) and the British pound (GBP). The currency pairs 

USD/SEK, GBP/EUR and USD/EUR are particularly important to the Group since they account for a major part of purchases by local companies 

not involving the functional currency. The SEK/EUR ratio, on the other hand, has a major impact on the profit reported by the Group when 

receivables from and liabilities to Swedish subsidiaries are translated into the parent company’s functional currency. The risk related to the 

SEK/EUR currency pair is increased partly by the fact that all of the Group’s external liabilities are euro-denominated, but a major part of its 

income is krona-denominated. So far the Group has not used hedging instruments to manage its currency risks, but it is actively investigating 

open foreign currency positions and related hedging needs and possibilities.

If the US dollar had been approximately 10% stronger/weaker than the Swedish krona during the financial year, the Group’s management 

estimates that it would have had a negative/positive impact of EUR 0.87 million (2016: EUR 0.77 million negative/positive) on the Group’s profit 

before tax.

If the British pound had been on average 10% stronger/weaker than the Euro during the financial year, the Group’s management estimates that it 

would have had a negative/positive impact of EUR 0.04 million (2016: EUR 0.04 million negative/positive) on the Group’s profit before tax.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had EUR 29.6 million of variable-rate debts with a reference rate of 3-month Euribor. Sensitivity analyses 

show that an increase of one per cent in the interest rate will add approximately EUR 0.2 million to the Group’s interest expenses. As the 

reference rate is negative at the balance-sheet date, the effect of higher interest rates is diluted by the interest rate floor of the loans (it cannot be 

negative). The interest rate floor also means that lower reference rates do not have any effect on interest rate costs.

If the Swedish krona had been approximately 10% stronger/weaker than the Euro during the financial year, the Group’s management estimates 

that it would have had a positive/negative impact of EUR 0.09 million (2016: EUR 0.28 million impact) on the Group’s euro-denominated profit 

before tax. The exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date also affects the Group’s comprehensive income and equity through 

translation differences of subsidiaries located in Sweden.

If the US dollar had been approximately 10% stronger/weaker than the Euro during the financial year, the Group’s management estimates that it 

would have had a negative/positive impact of EUR 0.05 million (2016: no impact) on the Group’s profit before tax.
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28. Credit risk

29. Capital management 

2017 2016

Net working capital 2 427 085,73 3 595 536,16

Equity 6 539 174,93 14 966 016,04

Return on equity
1)

-72,6% -19,5%

Net interest-bearing liabilities
2)

38 972 805,80 40 979 804,00

Gearing ratio
3)

596,0% 273,8%

Equity ratio
4)

9,9% 20,6%
1)

Profit for the year / equity (quarterly average during the financial year)
2)

Interest-bearing liabilities - cash liabilities - loan receivables
3)

Net interest-bearing liabilities / equity
4)

Equity/(total assets - advances received)

30. Trade payables and other liabilities

2017 2016 2015

Advances received 0,00 1 273 096,47 160 302,80

Trade payables 6 536 375,83 1 850 137,08 5 419 678,47

Accrued expenses 1 284 010,53 1 262 389,20 1 313 590,60

Other current liabilities 726 431,25 635 484,73 966 409,88

Total 8 546 817,61 5 021 107,48 7 859 981,75

Significant accrued expenses

Holiday pay including social security contributions 431 520,39 627 503,65 682 558,83

Pay accruals 183 296,71 112 804,81 118 005,67

Interest accruals 457 344,60 164 676,32

Pension insurance accruals (TYEL) 177 896,93 6 844,08 46 807,24

Other items 33 951,89 350 560,34 372 999,72

Total 1 284 010,53 1 262 389,20 1 220 371,46

No particular goals have been set for the management of capital of the Group; instead the Group seeks to find a balance between growth 

targets, the debt ratio and return on capital. Func Food Group Oyj or its subsidiaries are not subjected to externally imposed capital 

requirements. Note 35 itemises the restrictions on the use of the Group’s funds, the taking of debt, and payment of liabilities during the duration 

of the parent company's bond. 

The most important indicators of capital management are shown in the table below.   

The Group manages the credit risk by checking the creditworthiness of its key partners at regular intervals and by actively monitoring the 

payment behaviour of its customers. The Group also manages the credit risk by using different terms of payment for specific markets and 

customers. The Group’s subsidiaries have considerable credit risk concentrations due to the concentration of sales to a few large retail chains, 

but the probability that the credit risk of these customers materialises is very small. The credit risk concentrations of other customers are minor 

due to the Group’s large number of small customers and the fact that the average amount due is small. The objective is to check the 

creditworthiness of new customers when orders are placed. The Group estimates that the credit risk related to outstanding trade receivables is at 

most EUR 30 000 at the balance-sheet date. The age distribution of the trade receivables is presented on page 22.

The objective of the Group’s capital management activities is to support business operations through an optimal capital structure and to increase 

shareholder value with the objective of achieving the best possible return on invested capital. Another objective is to maintain investor, creditor 

and market confidence in the Company and to ensure positive development for the Company in the future. The capital to be managed according 

to the definition of the Group is comprised of net working capital, interest-bearing net debt and shareholders' equity.
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31. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

EUR 1.1.2017

Recognised in 

profit or loss

Recognised in 

equity

Exchange 

differences 31.12.2017

Deferred tax assets

Internal margin of inventories 21 172,33 22 698,00 43 870,33

Financial leases 51 846,47 -2 545,40 49 301,07

Total 21 172,33 74 544,47 0,00 -2 545,40 93 171,40

EUR 1.1.2017

Recognised in 

profit or loss

Recognised in 

equity

Exchange 

differences 31.12.2017

Deferred tax liabilities

Capitalisation of intangible 

assets 7 557 753,36 -596 123,42 -303 925,00 6 657 704,94

Accumulated depreciation 

difference 4 769,58 -989,29 3 780,29

Convertible loans -27 093,00 32 477,00 5 384,00

Loans from credit institutions 66 333,83 -66 333,83 0,00

Other items 30 974,46 21 530,54 -1 714,11 50 790,89

Total 7 632 738,23 -609 439,00 0,00 -305 639,11 6 717 660,12

EUR 1.1.2016

Recognised in 

profit or loss

Recognised in 

equity

Exchange 

differences 31.12.2016

Deferred tax assets

Internal margin of inventories 7 799,00 13 373,33 21 172,33

Other items 1 176,74 -7 057,10 5 880,36 0,00

Total 8 975,74 6 316,23 0,00 5 880,36 21 172,33

EUR 1.1.2016

Recognised in 

profit or loss

Recognised in 

equity

Exchange 

differences 31.12.2016

Deferred tax liabilities

Capitalisation of intangible 

assets 8 216 625,66 -650 718,13 -8 154,17 7 557 753,36

Accumulated depreciation 

difference 4 769,58 0,00 4 769,58

Convertible loans 0,00 -27 093,00 -27 093,00

Loans from credit institutions 72 925,00 -6 591,17 66 333,83

Untaxed reserves 165 029,83 -194 795,09 29 765,26 0,00

Other items 199 608,70 87 550,99 -214 334,32 -41 850,91 30 974,46

Total 8 658 958,77 -791 646,40 -214 334,32 -20 239,82 7 632 738,23

As of 31.12.2017, the Group’s losses carried forward amounted to EUR 12,242,482.38 (EUR 7,064,244.78 at 

31.12.2016) for which no deferred tax receivables have been recognised. The losses in question will expire in 

2023-2026.
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32. Breakdown of maturities of financial liabilities

The following table shows a maturity analysis based on agreements made. The figures are undiscounted including

both interest and repayment costs.

Breakdown of maturities of financial liabilities

carrying value cash flow 0-6 months 6 months - 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years over 5 years

31.12.2017

Convertible loans 7 919 313,99

repayments 7 925 367,15 0,00 0,00 0,00 7 925 367,15 0,00

finance costs 3 756 582,68 0,00 0,00 0,00 3 756 582,68 0,00

Bond 29 256 065,58

repayments* 29 626 472,00 0,00 4 500 000,00 25 126 472,00 0,00 0,00

finance costs 4 044 013,45 1 340 597,88 1 362 817,71 1 340 597,86 0,00 0,00

Subordinated loan 74 666,67

repayments 74 666,67 25 000,00 0,00 0,00 49 666,67 0,00

finance costs 20 110,87 1 374,98 0,00 0,00 18 735,89 0,00

Financial lease liabilities 1 049 852,75

repayments 1 055 236,83 363 405,00 163 895,00 283 972,00 243 964,83 0,00

finance costs 19 385,00 7 436,00 5 017,00 6 046,00 886,00 0,00

Additional consideration 3 621 198,66

repayments 3 619 121,55 317 551,02 0,00 0,00 0,00 3 301 570,53

finance costs 4 142,86 4 142,86 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00

Trade payables and other liabilities 8 927 992,78

repayments 8 927 992,78 6 536 375,83 0,00 577 014,00 1 814 602,95 0,00

finance costs 338 454,83 0,00 0,00 0,00 338 454,83 0,00

Total 50 854 454,43 58 342 288,85 8 230 406,57 5 862 817,71 27 044 083,86 13 903 410,18 3 301 570,53

*According to a resolution approved after the end of the accounting period the 4.5 million euro amortization will be moved to year 2019

31.12.2016

Convertible loans 3 775 481,95

repayments 3 640 763,95 0,00 0,00 0,00 3 640 763,95 0,00

finance costs 1 999 225,68 0,00 0,00 0,00 1 999 225,68 0,00

Bond 36 354 679,53

repayments 36 999 992,00 0,00 9 807 758,97 4 500 000,00 22 692 233,03 0,00

finance costs 7 504 311,00 1 841 376,00 1 693 892,00 3 212 494,00 756 549,00 0,00

Subordinated loan 88 447,67

repayments 99 666,67 25 000,00 0,00 25 000,00 49 666,67 0,00

finance costs 16 934,08 0,00 0,00 5 475,75 11 458,33 0,00

Financial lease liabilities 264 070,13

repayments 264 069,13 123 958,60 65 441,83 52 319,71 22 349,00 0,00

finance costs 7 071,65 3 259,87 1 931,33 1 669,46 211,00 0,00

Additional consideration 3 892 888,09

repayments 3 892 888,09 500 000,00 0,00 0,00 3 392 888,09 0,00

finance costs 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00

Trade payables and other liabilities 3 659 343,92

repayments 4 016 127,92 1 850 137,08 0,00 0,00 1 588 976,84 577 014,00

finance costs 427 460,48 0,00 0,00 0,00 427 460,48 0,00

Total 48 034 911,29 58 868 510,65 4 343 731,55 11 569 024,13 7 796 958,92 34 581 782,07 577 014,00
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33. Fair value hierarchy for financial assets and liabilities which are not measured at

fair value in the statement of financial position but whose fair value is presented in the financial statements

31.12.2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 159 567,48 159 567,48 0,00

Financial liabilities

Bonds and debentures 29 256 065,58 29 256 065,58 0,00

Convertible loans 7 919 313,99 7 919 313,99 0,00

Subordinated loans 74 666,67 0,00 74 666,67

Amounts owed to credit institutions 1 049 852,75 1 049 852,75 0,00

Other liabilities 6 414 254,71 6 414 254,71 0,00

Total 44 714 153,70 44 639 487,03 74 666,67

31.12.2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 7 364 928,26 7 364 928,26 0,00

Financial liabilities

Bonds and debentures 36 354 679,53 36 354 679,53 0,00

Convertible loans 3 775 481,95 3 775 481,95 0,00

Subordinated loans 88 447,67 0,00 88 447,67

Amounts owed to credit institutions 264 070,13 264 070,13 0,00

Other liabilities 6 337 579,66 6 337 579,66 0,00

Total 46 820 258,94 46 731 811,27 88 447,67

Level 1 includes instruments whose fair value is based on the listed (unadjusted) prices of identical assets or

liabilities in a well-functioning market.

Level 2 includes instruments with verifiable prices based on market data.

Level 3 includes instruments with prices not based on verifiable market data

but, for example, on the Company’s internal information.

The carrying values of trade receivables and trade payables represent a reasonable estimate of their fair value.

34. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

2017 balance-sheet item

EUR

Financial assets 

and liabilities at 

fair value 

through profit 

and loss

Loans and 

receivables

Cash and cash 

equivalents 

available for sale

Financial 

liabilities 

measured at 

amortised cost

Carrying 

amounts of 

balance-sheet 

items Fair value

Non-current financial assets

Other non-current assets

Available-for-sale financial assets

Current financial assets

Trade and other receivables 2 037 252,17 2 037 252,17 2 037 252,17

Financial securities

Total financial assets 0,00 2 037 252,17 0,00 0,00 2 037 252,17 2 037 252,17

Non-current financial liabilities

Bonds and debentures 24 756 065,58 24 756 065,58 24 756 065,58

Convertible loan 7 919 313,99 7 919 313,99 7 919 313,99

Subordinated loans 49 666,67 49 666,67 49 666,67

Amounts owed to credit institutions 590 387,26 590 387,26 590 387,26

Other non-current liabilities 5 693 187,48 5 693 187,48 5 693 187,48

Current liabilities

Bonds and debentures 4 500 000,00 4 500 000,00 4 500 000,00

Subordinated loans 25 000,00 25 000,00 25 000,00

Amounts owed to credit institutions 459 465,49 459 465,49 459 465,49

Trade payables 6 536 375,83 6 536 375,83

Other liabilities 721 067,23 721 067,23

Total financial liabilities 0,00 0,00 0,00 43 993 086,47 51 250 529,53 51 250 529,53
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EUR

Financial assets 

and liabilities at 

fair value 

through profit 

and loss

Loans and 

receivables

Cash and cash 

equivalents 

available for sale

Financial 

liabilities 

measured at 

amortised cost

Carrying 

amounts of 

balance-sheet 

items Fair value

Non-current financial assets

Other non-current assets 0,00

Available-for-sale financial assets 0,00

Current financial assets

Trade and other receivables 9 150 180,73 9 150 180,73 9 150 180,73

Financial securities 0,00

Total financial assets 0,00 9 150 180,73 0,00 0,00 9 150 180,73 9 150 180,73

Non-current financial liabilities

Bonds and debentures 33 854 679,53 33 854 679,53 33 854 679,53

Convertible loan 3 775 481,95 3 775 481,95 3 775 481,95

Subordinated loans 88 447,67 88 447,67 88 447,67

Amounts owed to credit institutions 200 726,13 200 726,13 200 726,13

Other non-current liabilities 1 232 192,84 5 202 094,93 5 202 094,93

Current liabilities

Bonds and debentures 2 500 000,00 2 500 000,00 2 500 000,00

Convertible loan 0,00

Amounts owed to credit institutions 63 344,00 63 344,00 63 344,00

Trade payables 3 123 233,55 3 123 233,55

Other liabilities 1 135 484,73 1 135 484,73

Total financial liabilities 0,00 0,00 0,00 41 714 872,12 49 943 492,49 49 943 492,49

Bonds, debentures and convertible loans

Financial lease liabilities 

Trade and other receivables

Factoring debts, capital loans, trade payables and other liabilities 

The fair values of liabilities are based on discounted cash flows. The discount rate applied is the rate at which the Group could acquire corresponding loan 

funding externally measured at the end of the reporting period. The overall interest rate consists of a risk-free interest rate and a company-specific risk 

premium.

The fair value is estimated by discounting future cash flows using an interest rate which equals the interest rate of corresponding leases on the reporting 

date.

The initial carrying amount of receivables other than derivative contracts equals their fair value since the effect of discounting is not material considering 

the maturity of the receivables.

The initial carrying amount of factoring debts, capital loans, trade payables and other payables equals their fair value since the effect of discounting is not 

material considering the maturity of the payables.
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35. Guarantees and contingent liabilities

2017 2016 2015

Guarantees for bonds and debentures

Corporate mortgages 16 500 000,00 16 500 000,00 16 500 000,00

Pledges given 39 630 211,66 24 443 663,03 19 261 423,46

Pledged bank deposits 0,00 7 307 758,97 7 617 389,41

Total 56 130 211,66 48 251 422,00 43 378 812,87

The value of the liabilities is the nominal value or the book value of the item in question.

Other leases

2017 2016 2015

Not later than one year 242 580,79 269 011,61 214 988,00

Later than one year and not later than five years 516 977,77 428 778,67 587 140,00

Total 759 558,56 697 790,28 802 128,00

Restrictions on the use of company assets, drawing loans and payment of debts

during the maturity of issued bond loan

The pledged assets include pledged shares in subsidiaries of EUR 39,630,211.66.

The parent company and the subsidiaries cannot provide other securities than those provided in connection with the issuance of the 

bond, unless separately allowed in the bond terms. The parent company and the subsidiaries can draw new loans only to the extent 

specified in the bond terms.

The parent company and the subsidiaries cannot sell their assets except under certain conditions. Assets can be sold between Group 

companies and in connection with normal business operations including the sale of outdated assets and factoring of trade receivables.

Furthermore, the Group may not distribute funds to the direct or indirect shareholders of the parent company or their related parties in 

any manner similar to those described above, excluding special exceptions listed in the bond’s terms and conditions. These exceptions 

concern any future listing of the company or a one-off loan granted by a related party to the company. Such a loan can be repaid insofar 

as it exceeds any excise duty liabilities of the company confirmed by a court of law for the years 2011-2013.

Func Food Group Oyj or its subsidiaries cannot pay dividends to the direct or indirect shareholders of the parent company. Also, the 

parent company cannot buy its own shares or make payments to shareholders through the issuance of share capital or other restricted 

equity. The Group cannot repay shareholder loans or their accumulated interest. The subsidiary Func Food Sweden Ab cannot repay 

the loan of EUR 1.5 million that it received in connection with the acquisition of ACMF Holding or its accumulated interest. The Group 

companies cannot grant loans to parties outside the Group. 

The conditions of the bond issued by the Group in June 2015 set limitations on the use of company funds, drawing new loans, and on 

the payment of company debts.
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36. Related party transactions

Subsidiaries and material shares of non-controlling interests

Name of the company Domicile
Ownership of 

the Group (%)

Ownership of the 

parent company 

(%)

Parent company: Func Food Group Oyj Finland

Func Food Group Oyj's subsidiaries and their subsidiaries:

Func Food Finland Oy Finland 100 % 100 %

Suomen Lisäravinne Oy Finland 100 %

Func Food Sweden AB Sweden 100 % 100 %

Peoples Choice AB Sweden 100 %

Freddy Store AB Sweden 100 %

Func Food Norge AS Norway 100 % 100 %

Executive employment benefits

Executive employment benefits, EUR thousand 2017 2016 2015

Salaries, fees and other short-term employment benefits 515,5 727,5 160,5

Total 515,5 727,5 160,5

Salaries and fees of the Board of Directors and the 

Managing Director recognised as an expense, EUR 

thousand 2017 2016 2015

Antti Pirinen 0,0 46,4 64,1

Robin Lybeck 205,9 177,4 0,0

Esko Lantto 18,0 18,0 19,5

Andreas Celik 0,0 145,7 76,9

Total 223,9 387,4 160,5

Additional pension benefits of management, thousand 

euros 2017 2016

Payment based additional pension benefits 14,2 14,2

Total 14,2 14,2

37.  Events after the end of the reporting period

The CEO of the Group's parent company and his deputy have a payment based additional pension benefit. The contract based pension age is 60 years and the 

pension ends when the insured turn 65 years. The pension amount is based on accrued pension savings in the beginning of the pension period and during the 

pension period.

The Company notified the reorganisation of business activities on 19.2.2018. One of the Group’s subsidiaries Func Food Finland Oy started its co-operation 

negotiations, which ended on 12.3.2018. As a result of the negotiations, the job duties of ten employees will end or change, and the Company shall close its 

office in Tampere by 30.6.2018.

The Group’s related parties include the parent company and subsidiaries as well as the Board members and CEO of the parent company. Additionally, the 

related parties include the executive leadership team of the Group. There are no associated companies or joint ventures in the Group.

For the period of 2016, Func Food Group Oyj’s top management included the Board of Directors and CEO Robin Lybeck (from 18.1.2016), as well as the 

Group’s management team that was formed during 2016. During the period of 2017, the definition of the top management was the same as at the end of 2016. 

The remuneration paid to the top management for their service is composed of the following items:

During the financial years of 2016-2017, key personnel of management belonging to the Group’s related parties included the Board members and the CEO of 

the parent company as well as the Group's management team. The Annual General Meeting in 2017 confirmed the remuneration of Board members coming 

from outside the Group as EUR 1 500 per month. Other Board members are not compensated. The salaries and fees paid to Board members and the CEO are 

as follows:

The shareholders of the Company’s bond approved the Company’s proposed changes to the bonds on 15.1.2018. The Company applied to change the 

conditions of the bond with a process that started on 18.12.2017. The Company proposed that Func Food Sweden Ab may convert up to 10.0 million euros of 

the originally 33.1 million, and at the end of the year 23.1 million euros of intra-group loan granted by Func Food Group Oyj into an equity instrument. The 

Company also proposed that the planned bond repayment of 4.5 million euros can be omitted in September 2018. At the same time, the Company proposed an 

increase in the amount of permitted financial leasing debt and a permission to use recourse factoring arrangements with large retail customers, where the credit 

risk remains with the Group. The Company also proposed changes to the bond terms in relation to discontinuing the Freddy business operations and the 

possible merger of Finnish subsidiaries. As a condition for the implementation of the changes, the Company arranged 3.0 million euros of additional funding 

from its shareholders between November 2017 and January 2018.

The Group does not have any other significant business transactions, receivables, debts or guarantees involving related parties.

The Group has recognised a liability of EUR 3,301.6 thousand concerning the conditions for additional purchase price related to the acquisition in Sweden in 

2015. The additional consideration shall be paid immediately when then rolling 12-month EBITDA exceeds SEK 70 million. One related party of the Group is a 

benecificiary of the additional consideration through his own investment company. His share is half (50%) of the additional consideration.

The Group has received a loan of EUR 577.0 thousand from a related party (person) that was granted for settling retrospective tax liabilities for the financial 

years 2011-2013. If the retrospective tax liabilities turn out to be less than the loan principal, the remainder will be repaid. No interest is paid on the loan.
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EUR Note 1.1.2017-31.12.2017 1.1.2016-31.12.20161.1.2015-31.12.2015

R E V E N U E 898 862,85 1 006 417,32

Materials and services

 Materials, supplies and goods

  Purchases during the year -568,01 -688,05

Total materials and services -568,01 -688,05

Personnel costs

 Wages and salaries -392 328,87 -391 910,64

Social security expenses

 Pension expenses -90 052,92 -69 587,37

 Other social security expenses -28 409,54 -38 202,73

Total personnel costs -510 791,33 -499 700,74

Other operating expenses -755 736,43 -780 968,27

OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) -368 232,92 -274 939,74

FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES:

Other interest and financial income from Group 

companies 3 439 183,01 3 754 608,84

From others 68 032,05 231,93

Interest and other finance costs

To Group companies 0,00 -161 948,15

To others -3 764 414,60 -4 195 978,71

Total finance income and expenses -257 199,54 -603 086,09

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE APPROPRIATIONS

AND TAXES -625 432,46 -878 025,83

PROFIT (+) / LOSS (-) FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR -625 432,46 -878 025,83

INCOME STATEMENT
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EUR Note 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

A S S E T S

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investments

Holdings in Group companies 2. 39 623 325,13 24 433 223,37

Receivables from Group companies 3. 33 385 949,53 40 382 000,00

Total investments 73 009 274,66 64 815 223,37

CURRENT ASSETS

Current receivables

  Receivables from Group companies 3. 1 604 955,79 1 322 499,82

  Prepayments and accrued income 4. 402 935,24 720 385,37

  Other receivables 0,00 7 307 758,97

Total current receivables 2 007 891,03 9 350 644,16

Cash and cash equivalents 199 688,29 105 038,47

A S S E T S 75 216 853,98 74 270 906,00

E Q U I T Y  A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S

EQUITY 5.

Share capital 80 000,00 80 000,00

Invested non-restricted equity reserve 30 016 564,00 30 016 564,00

Retained earnings -2 673 654,36 -1 795 628,53

Profit (loss) for the financial year -625 432,46 -878 025,83

Total equity 26 797 477,18 27 422 909,64

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities 6.

  Bonds and debentures 25 126 472,00 34 499 992,00

  Convertible loans 7 925 367,15 3 640 763,95

  Amounts owed to Group companies 7. 0,00 0,00

  Other liabilities 577 014,00 577 014,00

Total non-current liabilities 33 628 853,15 38 717 769,95

Current liabilities

Bonds and debentures 4 500 000,00 2 500 000,00

Trade payables 50 976,35 113 636,16

Amounts owed to Group companies 7. 10 078 285,80 5 387 141,68

Other current liabilities 6 815,30 29 620,92

Accrued expenses 8. 154 446,20 99 827,65

Total current liabilities 14 790 523,65 8 130 226,41

Total liabilities 48 419 376,80 46 847 996,36

E Q U I T Y  A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S 75 216 853,98 74 270 906,00

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

1.1. - 31.12.2017 1.1. - 31.12.2016

Cash flow from business operations
Profit before extraordinary items -625 432,46 -878 025,83

  Finance income and expenses 257 199,54 603 086,09

  Unrealized exchange rate gains and losses 0,00 309 630,44

Changes in working capital incl. changes in blocked accounts 7 140 302,10 1 726 601,98

Interest and other expenses on liabilities -2 973 053,23 -3 428 766,41

Interest and other finance income 2 900 783,42 3 870 345,37

Cash flow from business operations 6 699 799,37 2 202 871,64

Net cash flow from investing activities
Loans granted -3 003 949,53 -3 500 000,00

Loan repayments received 0,00 185 271,97

Investments in subsidiary shares -3 272,15 0,00

Net cash flow from investing activities -3 007 221,68 -3 314 728,03

Cash flow in financing activities

Invested unrestricted equity fund 0,00 325 000,00

Non-current loans drawn 3 775 592,13 3 500 000,00

Repayments of non-current loans -7 373 520,00 -2 800 008,00

Cash flow in financing activities -3 597 927,87 1 024 992,00

Change in cash and cash equivalents 94 649,82 -86 864,39

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Jan 105 038,47 191 902,86

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 Dec 199 688,29 105 038,47
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES OF THE PARENT COMPANY

Parent of the Group is Func Food Group Oyj

Business ID 2592369-6

Address Mäkelänkatu 91, 00610 Helsinki

ACCOUNTING POLICIES APPLIED IN THE PREPARATION OF PARENT COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Valuation bases and methods applied in preparing the financial statements

and principles and methods of accrual accounting

Intangible and tangible assets are recognised at acquisition cost less

planned depreciation. Planned depreciation is calculated

as straight-line depreciation based on the expected useful life of intangible and tangible assets.

Expert expenses due to acquisition of subsidiaries are capitalised in the acquisition cost of the companies.

Consolidated goodwill is expected to generate revenue for 10 years.

Item Depreciation period or %

Intangible rights 5–20 years

Machinery and equipment 3–10 years

Consolidated goodwill 10 years 

Measurement principles for inventories

The company does not have inventories.

Measurement of subsidiary shares

Subsidiary shares are measured at acquisition cost.

Measurement of shares is based on the income generated by the subsidiaries for themselves

and for other Group companies.

The difference between the acquisition cost of subsidiaries and the shareholders’ equity equivalent to the assets

acquired is shown as consolidated difference, and this asset will be depreciated in ten years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES ON PERSONNEL AND INCOME STATEMENT

1. Personnel:

Average number of employees by category during the financial year

2017 2016

Salaried employees 3 2

Total 3 2

NOTES ON STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2. Investments

2017

Name of the company Domicile Ownership Revenue Equity Carrying amount

Func Food Finland Oy Tampere 100 % 16 006 279,45 65 547,25 18 933 423,15

Func Food Sweden Ab Gothenburg 100 % 849 128,77 8 055 382,08 20 686 629,83

Suomen Lisäravinne Oy Helsinki 100 % 1 410 017,44 304 138,55

Func Food Norge As Oslo 100 % 71 793,27 -72 576,43 3 272,15

Peoples Choice AB Stockholm 100 % 24 303 565,37 1 040 307,79

Freddy Store AB Stockholm 100 % 1 438 495,53 90 151,79

3. Receivables from Group companies 2017 2016

Non-current

  Loan receivables 33 385 949,53 40 382 000,00

Current

  Accounts receivable 76 559,55 400 362,38

  Other receivables 0,00 0,00

  Prepayments and accrued income 1 528 396,24 922 137,44

Total 34 990 905,32 41 704 499,82

4. Prepayments and accrued income 2017 2016

Value added tax 0,00 14 887,43

Prepaid expenses 9 588,47 60 185,47

Interest receivables 379 165,67 645 312,47

Other prepaid amounts 14 181,10 0,00

Total 402 935,24 720 385,37

5. Equity

2017 2016

Share capital at 1 Jan 80 000,00 2 500,00

Changes during the year 0,00 77 500,00

Share capital at 31 Dec 80 000,00 80 000,00

Invested non-restricted equity reserve at 1 Jan 30 016 564,00 29 769 064,00

Change during the year 0,00 247 500,00

Invested non-restricted equity reserve at 31 Dec 30 016 564,00 30 016 564,00

Retained earnings/loss -2 673 654,36 -1 795 628,53

Profit/loss for the financial year -625 432,46 -878 025,83

Total equity 26 797 477,18 27 422 909,64

Distributable profits 26 717 477,18 27 342 909,64

6. Non-current liabilities 2017 2016

Bonds and debentures 25 126 472,00 34 499 992,00

Convertible loans 7 925 367,15 3 640 763,95

Loans from Group companies 0,00 0,00

Shareholder loans 577 014,00 577 014,00

Total 33 628 853,15 38 717 769,95



7. Amounts owed to Group companies 2017 2016

Non-current liabilities 0,00 0,00

Trade payables 0,00 149 905,46

Current loans 10 078 285,80 5 237 236,22

Accrued expenses 0,00 0,00

Total 10 078 285,80 5 387 141,68

8. Material accrued expenses 2017 2016

Personnel cost accruals 107 957,71 63 334,51

Interest payable and other financing debt 46 488,49 36 493,14

Total 154 446,20 99 827,65

9. GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Debts secured by collateral

2017 2016

Bonds 29 626 472,00 36 999 992,00

Corporate mortgage 10 000 000,00 10 000 000,00

Total mortgages 10 000 000,00 10 000 000,00

Pledges 39 620 052,98 24 443 663,03

Other liabilities

Leases 2017 2016

  Payable during the next financial year 16 343,66 15 914,41

  Payable during later financial years 10 383,05 19 966,99

Events after the end of the accounting period

After the end of the accounting period the terms of the bond have been changed.

A loan repayment of 4.5 million euros reported as current at the end of the accounting period is in fact non-current.

Restrictions on the use of company assets, drawing loans and payment of debts

during the maturity of issued bond loan

The conditions of the bond issued by the Group in June 2015 set limitations on the use of company funds, drawing new loans, and on the payment of company 

debts.

Func Food Group Oyj or its subsidiaries cannot pay dividends to the direct or indirect shareholders of the parent company. Also, the parent company cannot 

buy its own shares or make payments to shareholders through the issuance of share capital or other restricted equity. The Group cannot repay shareholder 

loans or their accumulated interest. The subsidiary Func Food Sweden Ab cannot repay the loan of EUR 1.5 million that it received in connection with the 

acquisition of ACMF Holding or its accumulated interest. The Group companies cannot grant loans to parties outside the Group. 

Furthermore, the Group may not distribute funds to the direct or indirect shareholders of the parent company or their related parties in any manner similar to 

those described above, excluding special exceptions listed in the bond’s terms and conditions. These exceptions concern any future listing of the company or a 

one-off loan granted by a related party to the company. This loan can be repaid insofar as it exceeds any excise duty liabilities of the company confirmed by a 

court of law for the years 2011-2013.

The parent company and the subsidiaries cannot sell their assets except under certain conditions. Assets can be sold between Group companies and in 

connection with normal business operations including the sale of outdated assets and factoring of trade receivables.

The parent company and the subsidiaries cannot provide other securities than those provided in connection with the issuance of the bond, unless separately 

allowed in the bond terms. The parent company and the subsidiaries can draw new loans only to the extent specified in the bond terms.
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SIGNATURES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Helsinki, April 16, 2018

Mika Uotila Andreas Celik

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Antti Keränen Esko Lantto

Antti Pirinen Robin Lybeck

CEO

AUDITOR’S STATEMENT

A report on the audit of the financial statements has been submitted today.

Tampere, April 16, 2018

KPMG Oy Ab

Authorised Public Accountants

Lotta Nurminen

APA
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Journal PDF file

General ledger PDF file

Accounts payable and receivable Hardcopy and electronic

Financial statements Separately bound

Financial statements in detail PDF file

Record types and method of retaining them

General ledger records 01 Hardcopy

Bank statement transactions 10 Electronic

Sales invoices 20 Electronic, hardcopy

Purchase invoices 30 Electronic and partly as PDF files

Purchase invoice payments 31 Electronic

Travel expense reports 32 Electronic and partly as PDF files

Allocation events 81 Electronic

Accrual entries 85 Electronic

IFRS entries 89 Electronic
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